
City of Swartz Creek 
AGENDA 

Regular Council Meeting, Monday, November 27, 2017, 7:00 P.M. 
Paul D. Bueche Municipal Building, 8083 Civic Drive Swartz Creek, Michigan 48473 

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:

3. ROLL CALL:

4. MOTION TO APPROVE MINUTES:
4A. Council Meeting of November 13, 2017 MOTION Pg. 19 

5. APPROVE AGENDA:
5A. Proposed / Amended Agenda MOTION Pg. 1 

6. REPORTS & COMMUNICATIONS:
6A. City Manager’s Report MOTION Pg. 2 
6B. Monthly Reports (Budget & Police) Pg. 26 
6C. Don Shenk Bids and Specifications Pg. 53 
6D. 2018 Street Project Pricing Pg. 88 
6E. Draft November ZBA minutes  Pg. 93 
6F. Traffic Control Order 171 Pg. 96 
6G. Comcast Pricing Update  Pg. 97 
6H. MML Medical Marihuana Information Pg. 99 
6I. Gaines Township Master Plan Notice Pg. 111 
6J. Consumers Energy Notice Pg. 112 
6K. Fiscal Year 2017 Audit  Attached 

7. MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC:
7A. General Public Comments

8. COUNCIL BUSINESS:
8A. Audit Presentation RESO Pg. 15 
8B. 2018 Street Projects  RESO Pg. 16 
8C. Don Shenk Home Rehabilitation Bid RESO Pg. 17 
8D. Traffic Control Order  RESO Pg. 18 

9. MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC:

10. REMARKS BY COUNCILMEMBERS:

11. ADJOURNMENT: MOTION 

Next Month Calendar 
Metro Police Authority: Tuesday, November 28, 2017, 2:00 p.m., Metro PD HQ 
Planning Commission:  Tuesday, December 5, 2017, 7:00 p.m., PDBMB 
Park Board:  Wednesday, December 6, 2017, 5:30 p.m., PDBMB  
City Council:   Monday, December 4, 2017, 7:00 p.m., PDBMB 
Christmas Parade Saturday, December 2, 2017, 6:00 p.m., Downtown   
City Council:   Monday, December 11, 2017, 7:00 p.m., PDBMB   
Downtown Development Authority: Thursday, December 14, 2017, 6:00 p.m., PDBMB 
ZBA:   Wednesday, December 20, 2017, 6:00 p.m., PDBMB 

City Council Packet 1 November 27, 2017



 
City of Swartz Creek 

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
Regular Council Meeting of Monday, November 27, 2017 - 7:00 P.M. 

 

TO:  Honorable Mayor, Mayor Pro-Tem & Council Members 
FROM: Adam Zettel, City Manager 
DATE:   November 22, 2017 
 
ROUTINE BUSINESS – REVISITED ISSUES / PROJECTS 

 
 MICHIGAN TAX TRIBUNAL APPEALS (No Change of Status) 

The 2016 Huizinga appeal has been settled without much change. Since the petitioner 
is not happy with this value, they will not settle the 2017 appeal.  Heather recommends 
that we do an appraisal for the 2017 appeal since our values are still very far apart.  
 
The golf appraisal is underway.  They do not appear to be cooperating. The allocation 
of value between the city and Flint Township is as much an issue as the establishment 
of a total true cash value for the entire course. While all the road frontage, structures, 
and much acreage is in the city, there is more land area for the course in the township. 
This circumstance is problematic for us. 
 

 STREETS (See Individual Category) 
 MORRISH SIGNALS (Update) 

We approved the update and Morrish approach signal upgrade. We await 
scheduling for work.  My understanding is that this could take awhile. 

 
 2017-2020 TRAFFIC IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM (TIP) (No Change of Status) 

The county is beginning to align the 2019 projects for 2018 preliminary engineering. 
We are being informed that, since the engineering is to be less than $25,000, the 
city shall not need to engage the qualified bidding selection process (QBS). This is 
good news because the QBS process is long and arduous, requiring an absurd 
amount of staff hours and paper filings in order to have an engineering expense that 
is reimbursable with federal funds. This has been affirmed by MDOT as of 
September 18, 2017. 
 
The city has only one project slated for federal funding through the regional planning 
commission Traffic Improvement Program (TIP).  Fairchild is to be designed in 2018 
and constructed in 2019, which is the last year of the three year TIP cycle. After 
that, we hope that Miller, west of Morrish will be in the 2020-2022 cycle. Seymour is 
not on the radar at this point, though we may try to put it on the next cycle as well.  
 
Listed below is the breakdown for Fairchild, including federal funding: 

Road 
Point of 

Beginning 
Point of 

End 
Length 
(Miles) Lanes 

Lane 
Feet 

Width 
(Feet) ADT 

Total 
Cost 

Federal 
Match 

Local 
Match 

Fairchild Cappy Miller 0.28 2 2956.8 44 2456 $312,306 $249,845 $62,461 
 

     

City Council Packet 2 November 27, 2017



 STREET PROJECT UPDATES (Business Item)
This is a standing section of the report on the status of streets as it relates to our
dedicated levy, 20 year plan, ongoing projects, state funding, and committee work.
Information from previous reports can be found in prior city council packets.

The work throughout the community is substantially complete.  We have been
debriefing with the engineer and contractor about what went well and what can be
improved. Overall, we have a good product in place that is at or under budget when
accounting for change orders, such as the additional sidewalk work.  Yet to be installed
by others is the decorative lighting and signs.

At this point, we have the option to bid the 2018 Daval project or to negotiate a price
with Glaeser Dawes for continuation of their efforts. Bidding the project is less
predictable. The city may save or lose money, and we may get superior or inferior
services at any cost. The big drawback in our opinion is the lost time. Winter bidding
will not give us a contractor until about February or March, making project planning a
bit difficult.

As such, we recommend we treat the 2018 work as a change order to the existing
contract, with all other terms and conditions recognized. This will keep pricing the same
(a huge benefit) and allow the engineer to tweak project aspects that can be improved.
In doing so, we will have an extra 90 days or so to establish more detailed
communication, staging, and scheduling plans. In short, we have an opportunity to
work with the existing contractor to refine our processes and product to better serve the
public by knowing who we are dealing with and by having an extra three months to
deal with it.

Note that the negotiated prices are still below the engineer’s estimate, even with the
additional sidewalk, driveway, and forestry work that is included for the non-water main
side of the street. This is a big benefit. Pricing also includes upgraded signs. The
estimated cost for the street portion was $700,000 (negotiated to $655,331.80) and the
water main portion was estimated at $450,000 (negotiated to $430,829.80).

A proposal for construction engineering by Rowe is included in the packet and the
resolution as well. A breakdown will be provided later to apportion these costs between
the street and water main portion.

We would like the street committee to reconven for this purpose, including residents
from the 2017 reconstruction area that have thoughts to add.

 WATER – SEWER ISSUES PENDING (See Individual Category)
 SEWER REHABILITATION PROGRAM (No Change of Status)

Lining work is approved for Chelmsford and Valleyview Drives. Inspection of
Winshall should occur around November 13th, with pipe preparation for Chelmsford
and Valleyview at the same time. Lining is expected around November 27th.

This program is on schedule and budget. Based upon current rates and existing
fund balance, staff may recommend expending more in the next year or two on the

City Council Packet 3 November 27, 2017



sewer rehabilitation plan in order to get some higher risk assets completed more 
quickly. This could include Winshall Drive and Miller Road sections. 

 WATER MAIN REPLACEMENT – PLAN COMPLIANCE (Update)
I have updated the map database with pipe information that will make compilation of
the report possible. There is still a lot of hydrant data and valve data that may not be
able to make the 2018 report. However, the work done so far will give us a great
handle on our existing assets and the strategy to maintain them.

The result will be a complete map and database that we convert into a water master
plan and reliability study that the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality
expects to have by January (see below).

The council approved the proposal from the engineer to seek grant funds for the
next water main replacement that is integrated with our 20 year street plan. 2018
will be Daval, followed by Chelmsford and Oakview in subsequent years.
Obviously, Miller and Morrish Roads are mid-term priorities for replacement and
may be looked at separately for such grant/loan funding.

Previous report details follow:

Genesee County Drain Commission - Water and Waste Services still intends to
update its 2003 Water Master Plan this year. During this process, they are going to
analyze the Swartz Creek area to ascertain what current and future needs are. This
information will then be used by their consultant to make determinations concerning
additional water feeds into the area and the sizing of the water main, including Miller
Road.

Their plan is to rely less on Miller Road and more on secondary feeds that could
approach the city from the north, south, and west. This would be good for us in the
long run and negates the concern that Miller Road would need to be increased in
size and/or used as an intercommunity transmission line.

The city is working with the county to abandon the Dye Road water main in the
vicinity of the rail line. This line is prone to breaks, which can be very costly and
dangerous near the rail spur.  The intention would be to connect our customers to
the other side of the street, onto the county line. It appears the transition cost would
be about $25,000. We will work with the county on this matter and report back on
our findings.

 WATER SYSTEM STATE REVIEW (No Change of Status)
Michigan Department of Environmental Quality staff have performed an annual
review of our operations. They are requiring some documentation and changes:
1. We are required to have a 5 and 20 year capital improvement plan (see above).
2. The city must have a valve maintenance program that includes a general

schedule for exercising valves. Staff will document our policy moving forward.
3. The city must supply our purchase contract with Genesee County for our water

supply. This document is on file and shall be provided to the DEQ.
4. The city must provide a water main inventory (see above).

City Council Packet 4 November 27, 2017



5. The city must provide an updated Emergency Response Plan. We have this on
file and shall do so.

 NPDES STATE REVIEW (No Change of Status)
The permit has been resubmitted to the state. Lots of work was put into this by 
Rebecca and Jody! After speaking to the state official overseeing our application, I 
believe we are in a good spot as it relates to the completeness and timeliness of the 
permit at this point. I will keep the council informed. The previous report follows: 

Michigan Department of Environmental Quality staff have performed a paper audit 
of our storm water management policies, ordinances, and procedures. They have a 
number of requests for supplemental paperwork that the city and Genesee County 
Drain Commissioner’s office (Surface Water Management Division) must provide.  

Tom and Rebecca are working to provide the required information. The state staff 
involved are very accommodating, and I do not expect any issues with reporting.  

This request stems from the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System, which 
resulted in the cooperative program operated by the county in which the city 
participates. They charge an annual fee to conduct monitoring, public education, 
and reporting. They also assisted in the draft of the city’s massive storm water 
ordinance that was passed relatively recently.  

 POLICE SERVICE (Update)
The Metro PD moved the November meeting to 2:00 p.m. on November 21st at the new
police department building next to the Hill Road Meijer. The facility looks pretty good.

The meeting covered topics including the 2018 budget, the progress with Gaines
Township, a potential contract for service with Thetford Township, and general
department updates.

The potential contract for service with Thetford Township is the subject of much
discussion.  The draft agreement indicates that the Metro will sell them a lower level of
service at a lower rate than what the city and township pay. The thought is that the
service needs to be cheaper to get others on board and test the service while a Police
Protection Unit cost is developed that would apply to all units.

The board is still deliberating whether and under what terms to provide service. My
initial reaction is that the lower rates do our tax payers in the city a disservice. I also
have concerns about the distance and similarities between departments. The board has
a committee that will look at some of the particulars, especially cost.

The authority board is also investigating prosecutors (the city uses Simen, Figura,
Parker; the township uses F. Jack Belzer).  I am not sure if the staff/board will bid this
service, engage in some other selection process, or hire someone in house. My initial
reaction to this is that the city and township should be able to select their own
prosecutors (note that the authority can still retain their own general counsel). To do so,
we may need to work with the authority and Mundy to arrange to have each
municipality pay for their own services.

City Council Packet 5 November 27, 2017



There will be a special meeting of the Metro Police on Tuesday, November 28th at 2:00 
p.m. at the new police headquarters on Hill 23 Drive. I have not received an agenda 
yet, but I believe they will be discussing the 2018 budget, the Thetford contract for 
service, and selecting officers for the next year. 

 HERITAGE VACANT LOTS (Update)
Sale instruments approved at the November 13 meeting will be available for inspection
for at least 30 days. They will appear on the January 9, 2018 agenda for further review
and potential approval.

 WINCHESTER WOODS LOTS  (No Change of Status)
A meeting was held on August 22nd and was well attended. Invitations were sent to all
owners in Winchester Woods as noted in the previous meeting packet. The
conversation was engaging and rational. However, not much consensus resulted. What
I was able to take away from the conversation is that the woods area is an asset that
most folks would rather see left intact. There was not much support for investing in
improvements to make the lots usable for single family construction.

There was some support for area-wide and/or focused drainage improvements in the
form of piping and ditching. I will look to create a survey instrument when things calm
down in the fall that might better inform us of what people would like to see happen.

The previous report follows:

The city engineer has created a set of investment options for this subdivision. If the
agenda was not jam packed, this would be up for presentation/discussion. For the time
being, the proposals are included for review and future discussion (albeit small in
scale).  One proposal costs $2.6 million and addresses all outstanding drainage,
sanitary sewer, and water service needs. This design is the text book solution to all
existing drainage issues, of which there are many. It also prepares the vacant lots for
development. I suspect this is too much investment for this area to endure, no matter
how the assessment is appropriated.

A second proposal costs $750,000 and only addresses the immediate needs
necessary to make the vacant land buildable. This includes sanitary sewer installation
on a more limited basis, as well as targeted drainage to alleviate future impacts. Note
that this is still about $20,000 per lot (vacant lots only)

As noted previously, Paul Fortino from Gaines was also able to attend consultation with
the city engineer. He has not shown interest in interjurisdictional cooperation when
asked to participate in design and/or construction.

 NEWSLETTER (Update)
Let me know if you have thoughts on the fall newsletter that was just distributed or have
ideas for the spring newsletter due out in April.

 HOLLAND SQUARE (No Change of Status)

City Council Packet 6 November 27, 2017



The DDA approved a proposal from OHM, per the direction of the DDA, to create 
schematic engineering for a site that enables parking and pavilion use. It appears that 
the concept of using the space for parking, with a possible structure for complimentary 
uses is desirable. The streetscape for Miller Road, west to Paul Fortino/Hayes is also 
being brought back into focus. The plan is to respect the desires of the nearby 
properties owners and work closely with them on the use and layout of the city site, 
continuing to look for opportunities and threats that should be addressed.  

 ELMS PARK RENOVATIONS (Update)
The final renovations (accessible parking, walkways, and exercise equipment) are
substantially complete! The tot lot build was on September 30th, and the project went
well. Final grading around the edges is still expected. Once complete, the facility should
be open. Plans will then be set for sign recognition of donors, the naming of the facility,
the provision for fencing, and some benches.

Note that the piles of dirt by Elms Road and I-69 are awaiting grading to increase the 
elevation of the proposed dog park.  

 TRAILS (Update)
The cooperative grant to the Michigan Department of Transportation was submitted on
October 27th. We received initial comments and have responded favorably. This places
us right on schedule to move into a DNR application in the spring as listed in the
timeline below.

Nothing else is required of the city at this point. However, should the DNR grant be 
awarded (October 2018), the city and township would be expected to move into the 
design phase of the project. I have attached the engineering cost proposal by OHM to 
do this. What this amounts to is a need to fund our share of $79,000 in the 2019 fiscal 
year. We would then look to fund our share of $118,500 in the next fiscal year for 
construction engineering of the project itself (assuming a summer of 2019 
construction). The expectation is that all other costs will be covered by the MDOT and 
DNR grants. If not, the local obligation may be too much to bear. As it is projected, the 
city’s share of $118,500 (~$106,650) is still very heavy for a single fiscal year of park 
investment.  

City Council Packet 7 November 27, 2017



 
 

 REDEVELOPMENT READY COMMUNITIES BRANDING (Update) 
We are moving forward! I will be meeting with the state MEDC soon to put together a 
game plan for specific actions to move us forward. 
 

 BRANDING (No Change of Status) 
The DDA is narrowing down potential logos and taglines. Once this is done, a more 
detailed marketing strategy can be delivered.  I have attached the consultant’s most 
recent submission of various logos and taglines that have resulted from months of 
deliberation, surveys, and input. Surprisingly, the dragon did not surface during this 
conversation to the extent that I was included. Mid-way through the process, the 
survey results and DDA began to gravitate towards logos that represented the ‘town 
and country’ theme, with inclusion of the creek and arch concepts.  
 
Variations of “where town and country join hands” were discussed and are 
presented. At the November meeting, the DDA appear to prefer to go back to the 
original tagline. Currently preference at this time is for logo number five, with uniform 
and arched lettering above the image and a bit more simplicity. The designer is 
going to deliver a number of variants of this particular logo at the next meeting, 
including changes to color, font, border, etc.  
 

 MEDICAL MARIJUANA LAND USES (Update) 

City Council Packet 8 November 27, 2017



I have attached the Michigan Municipal League Medical Marihuana Facilities – Opt 
In/Opt Out informational handbook. 

The planning commission had more deliberation at their November meeting 
regarding an amendment of the zoning code to enable four of the five state licensed 
facilities (provisioning centers are not included): 

1. Growing
2. Processing
3. Testing
4. Transportation

This time the discussion was more focused on the ordinance as it might relate to the 
raceway property. On the day of the meeting, staff and Mayor Krueger met with 
someone that indicates they have an interest in developing the raceway as an 
industrial park. In order to do so, they indicate that they would seek cannabis 
growers and processers as potential building tenants.  

This created much discussion. My professional opinion is that light industrial uses 
would be preferred at this site for the following reasons: these uses would diversify 
the economy, they would create demand for hospitality services on north Morrish 
Road and in downtown, the project would remove an apparent glut of usable 
commercial property, industrial users require far less services/traffic 
accommodations than retail/hospitality, and the resources gleaned from an industrial 
tax base would enable the city to focus those resources on quality of life endeavors 
in other areas.  

The apparent risks or downsides are real or perceived externalities (odor, crime, 
etc.), as well as any stigma that might be attached to having the uses in the 
community.  

Moving forward, the planning commission put off any decision by one month so the 
owner interest could further discuss their concept plan and strategy. The city was 
also going to look to investigate the impact that industrial scale growers/processers 
have had on desirable communities in western states that have been decriminalizing 
medical marijuana for longer periods of time.  

This could be a critical issue for the entire community. Some folks are decisively 
opposed to anything related to these statutes based upon established principles. 
Other folks believe this could be a practical and productive use of otherwise defunct 
raceway property. For the time being, we will allow the developer to put their best 
foot forward so that everyone can get a look at the situation and respond as 
informed individuals.  

As drafted, the four permitted uses are proposed to be limited to special land uses 
within industrial districts. Note that the city can entirely opt out of regulating and 
permitting any of the state regulated uses.  

 DOG PARK (No Change of Status)

City Council Packet 9 November 27, 2017



The Eagle Scout candidates are back on the case. There is now a fundraising 
platform set up to make this happen (GoFundMe). If you are interested in 
contributing or know of another person or entity that might be, feel free to contact 
me. 

 FIVE YEAR PARK PLAN (Update)
A draft was included in the October 23, 2017 packet. The park board reviewed the
document at their regular meeting on November 1st. Some minor changes were
made, and the plan is available to the public through November 30th, with a public
hearing planned for the December park board meeting. A hearing will also be held
on December 11th at the city council meeting. Rowe Professional Services
Company drafted the revised plan. They collected information from the park board at
their July meeting regarding goals and the action plan.

 RADAR FEEDBACK SIGNS (No Change of Status)
The police authority continues to explore options. They reported findings that point to a
more efficient system at their September meeting. Lt. Bade may be planning a road trip
to see a number of the signs in action around the area. Hopefully, they will have
purchase options soon.

If the authority does not proceed, the city can still engage in its own program.

 CONSUMERS CONSERVATION PILOT PROGRAM (No Change of Status)
The webpage for this program is now up and running. By all accounts, their kickoff
was very successful, and the community is getting engaged. I have noticed some
radio adds, as well as a billboard on I-69. Please check this program out and register
if you have not already!

Part of the program includes a $15,000 donation to one of two local projects. These
projects include the future “Holland Square” and the trail system that is proposed.
Obviously, these resources would be put to good use!

 DURAND AREA INDUSTRY - PROJECT TIM (No Change of Status)
This matter is starting to gain the attention of the world. Unfortunately, I have no new
information regarding the rumored industrial investment that is planned for the
Durand area. The best information that I have found was included in the June 26 city
council packet. What appears to be affirmed is that some sort of steel or raw material
producer is interested in constructing a large facility north of Durand. This facility is
alleged to be valued at close to $5 Billion and would employ hundreds of employees.
It is also being promoted as an engine for numerous spin off businesses.

The scale of this investment and its impact would be unprecedented and would
dramatically impact the housing, retail, and service market for Swartz Creek, as well
as potential industrial demand. However, no information has been substantiated to
ameliorate concerns over air quality impacts. Since our community is 4-5 miles east
by north east, we are in the immediate crosshairs of any such impacts. I have heard
that the facility could be a potential polluter, and I have heard that it could have no
measurable or observable impacts on air quality.

City Council Packet 10 November 27, 2017



At this point, we find ourselves as a stakeholder in this project without much 
information to respond. I will do my best to learn more and report to the city council. 
This is something that, if it proceeds, will have a tremendously positive impact on our 
town, or a mixed impact (economic/environmental). Since various state and federal 
agencies are involved, we should be prepared to inform ourselves and use our 
formal and collective voice to promote the best interest to the Swartz Creek 
community.  

 TAX REVERTED PROPERTY LIST (No Change of Status)
For the time being, the accepted course of action is to hold the Heritage property,
pending use in accordance with the current development and sale process that the
neighborhood association is coordinating with J.W. Morgan Inc.

I have received a call from an alleged property interest of the Second Street vacant
land. They indicated that they missed the tax payments for various reasons and
would like the property back.  The contact indicated that the house adjacent to the
site was owned by the same owner, but had the taxes paid by an escrow company. I
indicated that the city is likely to take ownership of this property due to
circumstances, but a letter to the city council requesting sale back to them would be
the best way to proceed with any attempt to reacquire it.

 5157 MORRISH ROAD DEMOLITION (No Change of Status)
We continue to have delays with Consumers Energy disconnection utilities. Until this
is complete we cannot move forward, though it appears the windows and affiliated
asbestos sealant are gone. Thoughts on reuse? Standard practice for single lot
properties is to sell them to an adjacent land owner. There has been interest by local
builders in placing new housing, similar to the bungalow homes that were built about
a decade ago on First and Wade.

 FIRE DEPARTMENT (Update)
The fire board had their November meeting on November 20th. They have tentatively
chosen to move forward with a process to review and interview Dave Plumb for the
position of fire chief. It appears that Mr. Cole opted not to meet with the fire board
personnel committee to discuss a possible severance.

Follow up conversations with Mr. Gehringer indicate that we are close on changes to
the interlocal agreement that would provide for membership qualifications and voting
provisions. I am awaiting word from them on our last proposal, which eliminated the
neutral seventh member (retaining supermajority requirements) and offered a
compromise to membership (two elected officials for each unit).

 DON SHENK HOME REHABILITATION (Business Update)
Bid specifications have been opened, and we have an apparent responsible low bid.
I have the bid tabulation sheet, specifications, and low bid information included.
Bedrock Building Inc. is the low bidder. They have the lowest price by far and are
well represented by their narrative, references, and licenses. I have not had any prior
experience with this company but can see no reason to exclude them.

City Council Packet 11 November 27, 2017



The base bid is well within our budget. Adding the alternate bid will make things 
close, perhaps too close for comfort. The base bid is $48,650 and the alternate 
(basement finishing) is $14,300, totaling $62,950. Note that the tentative 
rehabilitation budget is about $80,000, with the understanding that acquisition, 
carrying, and realty costs will amount to about $35,000. This leaves about $17,000 
for a contingency, landscaping, and any additional add on work.  

Reminder: the city CANNOT profit from this endeavor. Tax rules require that 
proceeds to be returned to the county. So, the city could recover any investments in 
owning, operating, improving, and maintaining the house, but the city cannot sell it 
for more than those investment inputs and keep the proceeds.  

 OTHER COMMUNICATIONS & HAPPENINGS (Update)

 MONTHLY REPORTS (Update)
The regular monthly budget and police reports are included for reference. The
budget report is new and improved with more details! Thank you Mrs. Korth! Let me
know (or let Lt. Bade know) what you think. He indicates that Swartz Creek specific
reports are not possible.

 GAINES TOWNSHIP MASTER PLAN (Update)
Gaines has finished an update of their master plan. A draft is available online.
Please take a look. A hardcopy can be printed at the city office if folks are interested
in borrowing it. My take is that this plan is similar to the prior plan.  The township
has some areas planned for mixed use/commercial west of town on Miller and south
of town on Morrish.  Overall, they place importance on having the commercial
downtown in the City of Swartz Creek. The township recognizes a need to loop
water distribution as well.

 COMCAST NOTICE (Update)
Comcast has a whole new pricing sheet.

 CONSUMERS ENERGY NOTICE (Update)
Another hearing is to be held on December 5th.

 BOARDS & COMMISSIONS (See Individual Category)
 PLANNING COMMISSION (No Change of Status)

The planning commission held a regular meeting on November 7th. The Medical
Marihuana ordinance and Redevelopment Ready Communities items were the only
agenda items and are discussed above.

The next meeting is scheduled for December 5.

 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (No Change of Status))
A DDA met on November 9th, with six members attending. Ongoing business
includes the Sunoco (Holland Square) and branding. Holland Square and branding
are discussed above. In addition, the DDA opted to invest more in the Christmas
happenings that are planned.

City Council Packet 12 November 27, 2017



 ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS (Update)
A variance application for a pole sign at the KFC location was approved by the
Zoning Board of Appeals at their regular meeting on November 15, 2017.  Two
conditions were added. The first was to relocate the sign to comply with a 10’ lot line
setback. The second was to include 6’ high evergreen screen around the base.
Draft minutes are included.

There is also a variance application for a residential accessory structure. This is
scheduled for December 20th.

 PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION  (No Change of Status)
Their meeting was held on November 1st. Primary matters were reported elsewhere
in the packet (park plan & trails).  The minutes of the meeting describe other
business in more detail. Their next meeting is on December 6. This will likely be the
last meeting in which the park plan is altered prior to approval. Moving forward, it
appears Park Board meetings shall be scheduled for 5:30 p.m.!

 BOARD OF REVIEW (No Change of Status)
The March Board of Review met on July 18, 2017.  I believe they meet again for
specific appeals in December.

NEW BUSINESS / PROJECTED ISSUES & PROJECTS 

 TRAFFIC CONTROL ORDER (Business Item)
As planned, we are recommending prohibition of parking on Ingalls between
Fairchild Street and School Street. This change is to ensure proper vehicle spacing
and overall safety to accommodate the narrower road width that resulted from the
reconstruction. Mr. Svrcek and Lt. Bade both concur that this remains the best
option, as planned during the design phase.

 ANIMAL ORDINANCE INFORMATION (Update)
If there are no further comments, deliberation, or request for action on this item, I
shall remove it from future reports. The previous report follows:

This item has been covered in a few reports. As I stated previously, I don’t see cause
to advocate or avoid such an ordinance. The city council has not shown a desire to
craft a specific ordinance for review and potential implementation. Unless directed
otherwise, I shall not continue to cover this topic in future packets. The previous
report follows:

The resident with concerns about stray and feral animals has been doing more
research on the topic. I have included some information [October 23, 2017 packet]
that she has compiled. We also spent some time discussing the matter. After hearing
her concerns and the model for addressing them, I am comfortable stating that there
is more enforceability and potential upside than I initially thought. There are obvious
concerns regarding owner rights, the resource demand, and the measurable
outcomes. However, she makes a compelling case and may work to find some
model ordinances that similar communities have used.

City Council Packet 13 November 27, 2017



I would be more than happy to receive comment on the matter. If directed by the city 
council, I can assist in bringing a draft ordinance before the planning commission or 
city council. If there is still no interest, please let me know that so I can notify the 
resident. If there is no comment, I will not act until I have more to pass along from 
the public. 

 AUDIT (Business Item)
Copies of the Fiscal Year 2017 audit are included with this packet. Findings for the
city’s processes and fiscal performance are outstanding. This means that the city is
maintaining solid practices related to our processes, accuracy, checks/balances, and
security.  In addition, the general fund is exceeding expectations as it relates to
accumulating fund balance and maintaining positive cash flows. In fact, city savings
in the general fund and sewer fund are more pronounced than expected. This is a
good result.

The auditors will be in to provide their formal presentation on November 27th. Bring 
questions and a high level of scrutiny. Moving forward, this new-found positive cash 
flow position will place the city council in a mode not observed for some time: what to 
do with surplus cash flows in various funds? These matters will be a big topic of 
discussion as we approach the development of the next annual budget.  

Council Questions, Inquiries, Requests, Comments, and Notes  

Miller Road Drain: The city engineer is now working to identify ownership 
responsibilities and easement rights with the county drain office. For the record, 
the city did receive a written statement from the county drain office in late 
August indicating that the creek was under the county’s jurisdiction and that any 
tile on her property would be the owner’s responsibility. As such, any 
information indicating a city responsibility must have come in mid to late 
September and did not reach us until the resident made contact with me.   
Yard Waste Collection: The last day is scheduled to be November 27th.  

City Council Packet 14 November 27, 2017



City of Swartz Creek 
RESOLUTIONS  

Regular Council Meeting, Monday, November 27, 2017, 7:00 P.M. 

Resolution No. 171127-4A MINUTES – NOVEMBER 13, 2017 

Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve the Minutes of the Regular Council 
Meeting held Monday, November 13, 2017, to be circulated and placed on file. 

Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

Voting For:_______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________  

Resolution No. 171127-5A AGENDA APPROVAL 

Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve the Agenda as presented / printed / 
amended for the Regular Council Meeting of November 27, 2017, to be circulated and 
placed on file. 

Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

Resolution No. 171127-6A CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council accept the City Manager’s Report of November 
27, 2017, including reports and communications, to be circulated and placed on file. 

Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

Resolution No. 171127-8A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE THE 2016-2017 FISCAL 
YEAR AUDIT BY INDEPENDENT AUDITOR PLANTE-
MORAN 

Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

WHEREAS, Section 8.13 of the City Charter requires an audit of all accounts of the 
city government; and 

City Council Packet 15 November 27, 2017



WHEREAS, independent auditors, retained by the city per a qualified bidding selection 
process, have completed said audit for the most recent fiscal year, 2017; and 

WHEREAS, said audit contains financials for related public utilities, enterprise 
accounts, and the Downtown Development Authority; and 

WHEREAS, the audit, as presented to the city council on November 27, 2017, has 
been found to meet generally accepted accounting standards and required reporting 
provisions of state and local law. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the City of Swartz Creek accept the 2016-
2017 Fiscal Audit Report prepared by Plante-Moran, a copy of which is attached 
hereto, and further, direct such to be published, distributed, circulated and placed on 
file in a manner prescribed by law. 

Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

Resolution No. 171127-8B RESOLUTION TO APPROVE 2018 DAVAL DRIVE 
WATER MAIN AND RECONSTRUCTION AND 
CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING 

Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek owns, operates, and maintains a system of 
major streets, local streets, and water main, and  

WHEREAS, the city has a twenty year asset management plan on file that is funded in 
part by a twenty year street levy, and  

WHEREAS, the reconstruction and rehabilitation features of the second year of the 
plan were awarded to Glaeser Dawes through a sealed bidding process, and  

WHEREAS, this plan, which includes various levels of preventative maintenance, 
preservation, and reconstruction on city streets, as well as water main replacement, 
was assessed by the Street Project Selection Committee at multiple meetings during 
the 2017 construction season, and 

WHEREAS, the city council finds that the negotiated pricing offered by Glaeser Dawes 
to complete Daval Drive reconstruction in 2018 remains competitive and the quality of 
the work is adequate, and 

WHEREAS, awarding the contract to Glaeser Dawes will enable approximately four 
additional months to fine tune project components such as staging, communication, 
and sub-contractor schedules, and 

City Council Packet 16 November 27, 2017



WHEREAS, this projects shall require construction engineering services to ensure 
proper materials, procedures, and results.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED the City of Swartz Creek City Council affirms 
the recommendation of the street committee and approves the negotiated project 
amount by Glaeser Dawes Corporation, as filed with the city, in the amount of 
$1,086,161.60 for street and water main work.  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Council approves the engineering 
proposal by ROWE Professional Services Company, dated November 21, 2017, for an 
amount not to exceed $124,952 for construction engineering services related to the 
awarded project.  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that appropriations to the projects and engineering 
shall be made to Fund 101 (General), Fund 202 (Major Streets), Fund 203 (Local 
Streets), Fund 204 (Municipal Streets) and Fund 590 (Water) as directed by the 
Treasurer. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Council directs the City Manager to 
execute any and all contracts, permits, agreements, and related documentation to said 
project award engineering proposal on behalf of the city.  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Council directs the Street Project Review 
Committee to provide recommendations to the engineer, contractor, and staff 
regarding areas for process improvement during the 2018 construction season.  

Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

Resolution No. 171127-8C RESOLUTION TO APPROVE REHABILITATION BIDS 
FOR 5256 DON SHENK 

Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

WHEREAS, the city acquired a residential structure in the community that is in need of 
repairs and improvement; and  

WHEREAS, a temporary committee was created to review conditions and prepare bid 
specifications to restore the residence; and  

WHEREAS, such specifications were released for sealed bids, with the bid opening 
occurring on November 22, 2017; and  

WHEREAS, the responsible low bid was found to be submitted by Bedrock Building 
Inc., of Linden, Michigan in the amount of $48,650 for the Base Bid and $14,300 for 
Alternate 1 (Basement). 

City Council Packet 17 November 27, 2017



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the City of Swartz Creek City Council hereby 
approves the Base bid, as submitted by Bedrock Building, Inc. for rehabilitation 
services for 5256 Don Shenk Drive in the amount of $48,650, in accordance with the 
attached bid specifications.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the City of Swartz Creek City Council hereby 
authorizes the City Manager to execute the change order for the Alternate 1 bid, as 
submitted by Bedrock Building, Inc. for rehabilitation services for 5256 Don Shenk 
Drive in the amount of $14,300, in accordance with the attached bid specifications, 
subject to budget allowances and project circumstances. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the City of Swartz Creek City Council directs the 
Treasurer to account for expenses related to this rehabilitation in a separate account, 
with the intention of accounting for investment expenses and potential sale proceeds.  

Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 

Resolution No. 171127-8D RESOLUTION TO APPROVE TRAFFIC CONTROL 
ORDER NUMBER 171, TO ELIMINATE ONSTREET 
PARKING ON INGALLS BETWEEN FAIRCHILD AND 
SCHOOL STREETS 

Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

WHEREAS, the city owns and operates a system of major and local streets, including 
traffic control devices; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 18, Article II of the Swartz Creek City Charter adopts the 
provisions of the Michigan Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, 2009 Edition; 
and  

WHEREAS, Section 1A.08 of the Michigan Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, 
2009 Edition places local control of the regulation of traffic devices; and  

WHEREAS, the street administrator and staff from the Metro Police Department of 
Genesee County recommend that parking on the north side of Ingalls, between 
Fairchild Street and School Street be prohibited due to the narrowing of the road. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek approve Traffic 
Control Order #171 as a permanent order and direct the staff to place and/or remove 
signs in accordance with the MUTCD. 

Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

City Council Packet 18 November 27, 2017



 CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 
SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
DATE 11/13/2017 

The meeting was called to order at 7:00 p.m. by Mayor Krueger in the Swartz Creek City 
Council Chambers, 8083 Civic Drive. 

Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance. 

Councilmembers Present: Cramer, Florence, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Pinkston, 
Porath. 

Councilmembers Absent: None. 

Staff Present: City Manager Adam Zettel, Clerk Connie Eskew. 

Others Present: Lania Rocha, Steve Shumaker, Bob Plumb, Kathy 
Ridley, Betty Binder, Lou Fleury, Bud Grimes, Jim 
O’Brien, Sandy Raffaelli, Jentery Farmer, Jim Barclay, 
Faye Porath, Bob Florine, Matt Bade, Chris Germain.  

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Resolution No. 171113-01 (Carried) 

Motion by Councilmember Porath 
Second by Councilmember Gilbert 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve the Minutes of the Regular Council 
Meeting held Monday October 23, 2017, to be circulated and placed on file. 

YES:   Florence, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Pinkston, Porath, Cramer. 
NO:   None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Resolution No. 171113-02 (Carried) 

Motion by Councilmember Cramer 
Second by Councilmember Florence 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve the Agenda as, presented for the 
Regular Council Meeting of November 13, 2017, to be circulated and placed on file. 

YES:   Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Pinkston, Porath, Cramer, Florence. 
NO:   None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

City Council Packet 19 November 27, 2017



CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

Resolution No. 171113-03 (Carried) 

Motion by Councilmember Florence 
Second by Councilmember Gilbert 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council accept the City Manager’s Report of 
November 13, 2017, including reports and communications and verbal updates, to 
be circulated and placed on file.   

YES:   Hicks, Krueger, Pinkston, Porath, Cramer, Florence, Gilbert. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC: 

Lou Fleury, Rowe Professional Services, gave an update on street construction. Paving is 
happening tomorrow, trees being delivered Wednesday and being planted immediately. 
Preservation work is complete. Elms Park paving will probably be finished Monday. Hydro 
seeding being done now.  

COUNCIL BUSINESS: 

RESOLUTION TO APPROVE A MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
BETWEEN THE MICHIGAN ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION AND THE 
CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK TO SUPPORT ENGAGEMENT IN THE REDEVELOPMENT 
READY COMMUNITIES PROGRAM  

Presentation 

Adam Zettel, City Manager gave an introduction of the MEDC RRC program. 

Chris Germain, Senior Planner MEDC, complimented the city on its good findings of 44% 
completion, and reported the findings.  He explained the best practices, ones met and 
what’s missing and recommendations. He defined the next steps to be taken.  

Resolution No. 171113-04 (Carried) 

Motion by Councilmember Hicks 
Second by Councilmember Florence 

WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek participated in the MEDC Redevelopment 
Ready Communities program, including staff training, completion of a self-
evaluation, and the reception and presentation of a  Report of Findings completed 
by MEDC staff dated October 2017; and, 

WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek, through its city council approved engagement 
with the MEDC Redevelopment Ready Communities Program; and,  

City Council Packet 20 November 27, 2017



WHEREAS, the staff and city council of Swartz Creek City find that continued 
coordination and inclusion with the MEDC through the RRC program is in the best 
interest of the public; and 

WHEREAS, the city planning commission, downtown development authority, and 
other boards have been appraised of the RRC program. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the City of Swartz Creek City 
Council hereby authorizes the Memorandum of Understanding with the MEDC to 
engage in the Redevelopment Ready Communities program and authorizes the 
Mayor to sign the agreement on behalf of the City of Swartz Creek.  

YES:  Krueger, Pinkston, Porath, Cramer, Florence, Gilbert, Hicks. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

RESOLUTION TO APPROVE THE SALE AND USE OF VACANT UNITS IN HERITAGE 
VILLAGE CONDOMINIUM 

Resolution No. 171113-05 (Carried) 

Motion by Councilmember Gilbert 
Second by Councilmember Cramer 

WHEREAS, the city acquired a total of six vacant units in Heritage Village 
Condominium, including the following units: 

3284 Heritage Blvd 58-30-651-091 
3278 Heritage Blvd 58-30-651-092 
3270 Heritage Blvd 58-30-651-093 
3264 Heritage Blvd 58-30-651-094 
3323 Heritage Blvd 58-30-651-106 
3329 Heritage Blvd 58-30-651-107 

WHEREAS, the city determined that a public purpose existed for obtaining the lots, 
being control and guarantee for the collection of the special assessment fees, the 
preservation of property values for the existing homes in the subdivision and the 
control over the quality of housing constructed on said units; and 

WHEREAS, the city previously found that the long term intent is to sell the lots to 
recover assessment costs and other administrative costs that may occur and to 
preserve property values consistent with the findings within this resolution; and  

WHEREAS, the city permitted a negotiation between the Heritage Village of Swartz 
Creek Homeowners Association (HoA), local builders, and city staff to occur with 
the intent to develop these units in a manner that ensures quality and timely 
development of housing at a market sale price of each unit; and 

WHEREAS, the HoA requested sale of the units to J.W. Morgan Construction, LLC., 
with certain conditions, as outlined in their statement from July 6, 2017 and the city 

City Council Packet 21 November 27, 2017



subsequently resolved to sell two lots to J.W. Morgan Construction, with proceeds 
to be paid to the HoA; and 

WHEREAS, J.W. Morgan Construction has commenced construction on the first 
two purchased units and is requesting to purchase two more at the same cost. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Swartz Creek City Council hereby 
approves the sale of two additional units (91 & 92) in Heritage Village to J.W. 
Morgan Construction, LLC., in accordance with the purchase agreements and quit 
claim deeds attached.  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the council directs staff to make said sale 
instruments available for public inspection and comment for no less than 30 days, in 
accordance with city charter, at which point the sales shall be reviewed by the city 
council. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the council directs staff to account the surplus 
proceeds from said sales with the expectation that such proceeds are allocated and 
paid to the Heritage Village of Swartz Creek Homeowners Association or the 
Genesee County Treasurer/Genesee County Land Bank in accordance with 
applicable law. 

Discussion Ensued. 

YES:  Pinkston, Porath, Cramer, Florence, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

RESOLUTION TO APPOINT OFFICIALS TO THE LOCAL OFFICERS COMPENSATION 
COMMITTEE, THE PLANNING COMMISSION, AND THE DOWNTOWN 
DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

Resolution No. 171113-06 (Carried) 

Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Pinkston 
Second by Councilmember Porath 

WHEREAS, the laws of the State of Michigan, the Charter and Ordinances of the 
City of Swartz Creek, interlocal agreements in which the City of Swartz Creek is a 
member, and previous resolutions of the city council require and set terms of offices 
for various appointments to city boards and commissions, as well as appointments 
to non-city boards and commissions seeking representation by city officials; and 

WHEREAS, there are routine terms expiring in November of 2017 within the local 
officers compensation commission, planning commission, and downtown 
development authority; and 

WHEREAS, said appointments are Mayoral appointments, subject to affirmation of 
the city council. 

City Council Packet 22 November 27, 2017



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Swartz Creek City Council concur 
with the Mayor and City Council appointments as follows: 

MAYORAL APPOINTMENT:  Patricia Maksymiu 
Local Officers Compensation Commission, Citizen 
Four year term, expiring November 22, 2021 

MAYORAL APPOINTMENT:  Dennis Pinkston 
Planning Commission, City Council Representative 
Three year term, expiring November 23, 2020 

MAYORAL APPOINTMENT:  Craig Culinski 
Planning Commission, Citizen 
Three year term, expiring November 23, 2020 

MAYORAL APPOINTMENT: Doug Sherman 
Downtown Development Authority, Property Interest 
Four year term, expiring November 22, 2021 

MAYORAL APPOINTMENT:   Ernie Eckerdt 
Downtown Development Authority, Property Interest & Resident 
Four year term, expiring November 22, 2021 

MAYORAL APPOINTMENT: Dennis Cramer 
Genesee County Metropolitan Alliance Alternate, Citizen 
Remainder of two year term, expiring November 26, 2018 

Discussion Ensued. 

YES:  Porath, Cramer, Florence, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Pinkston. 
NO: None. Motion Declared Carried. 

RESOLUTION TO APPROVE SIGNAL UPDATING AND UPGRADING 

Resolution No. 171113-07 (Carried) 

Motion by Councilmember Porath 
Second by Councilmember Cramer 

WHEREAS, the city owns and operates a system of major and local streets, 
including traffic control devices; and  

WHEREAS, the Genesee County Road Commission provides routine maintenance 
services for signalized intersections; and  

WHEREAS, some components of the signals, including lighting features of the 
Morrish and Miller Road signal, have been identified as obsolete by the GCRC and 
determined to be in need of upgrading to modern LED’s and related components; 
and  

WHEREAS, there has been a recognized desire by the public to improve wait times 
for Morrish traffic utilizing this intersection for left turns onto Miller Road during peak 
times; and  

City Council Packet 23 November 27, 2017



WHEREAS, the GCRC has given an estimate to upgrade the signal to modern 
components, and further indicates that a dedicated left turn arrow can be added for 
Morrish Road turns within the parameters of this estimate. 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the City’s Purchasing Ordinance, Chapter 2, Article 
VI, Section 2-402.a.2, the City Council finds the products and circumstances of the 
governmental service provided by the GCRC to be uncompetitive. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek City Council 
approves the update and upgrade of a left turn arrow at the Miller and Morrish Road 
signal in accordance with the estimate dated November 2, 2017. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City of Swartz Creek City Council directs the 
Treasurer to apportion funds from Fund 202 and amend the budget accordingly. 

Discussion Ensued. 

YES:  Cramer, Florence, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Pinkston, Porath. 
NO: None. Motion Declared Carried. 

MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC: 

Sandy Raffaelli, 8098 Miller Road, strongly opposes any ordinance allowing medical 
marihuana in the city. 

 REMARKS BY COUNCILMEMBERS: 

Councilmember Cramer welcomes the comments and concerns of our community.  He 
commented still looking for a good fit for the racetrack property.  He thanked all the 
construction crews for their work.  

Councilmember Florence is interested in knowing what the statistics are relative to drug 
use in Swartz Creek versus Flint. 

Councilmember Hicks commented on the assessor going door to door in the city. She also 
commented on the house on Cappy Lane with all the junk out front.  She asked Lt. Bade if 
he would supply a monthly police report in the future.  

Councilmember Gilbert confirmed leaf pickup dates. He had concerns on the trees being 
planted on Miller Road. He mentioned that the double utility poles on Miller Road are still 
there.   

Mayor Krueger commented on Consumers Energy hearings never list an agenda so it 
makes it hard to decide if you want to attend a meeting or not.   He wanted to thank 
everyone that came tonight, especially all the DDA and Planning Commission members. 

Councilmember Porath mentioned the Metro Police Authority meeting is on Tuesday, 
November 21, 2017.  

City Council Packet 24 November 27, 2017



Tom Svrcek wanted everyone to know about the Karegnondi Open house on November 
20, 2017 @ 11 a.m.  He encourage everyone to attend.  

Mayor Krueger commented on Flint still determining on where they are going to get their 
water from.  

ADJOURNMENT 

Resolution No. 171113-08 (Carried) 

Motion by Councilmember Gilbert 
Second by Councilmember Florence 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council adjourn the regular meeting at 8:54 p.m. 

Unanimous Voice Vote. 

___________________________ _____________________________ 
David A. Krueger, Mayor  Connie Eskew, City Clerk 

City Council Packet 25 November 27, 2017



2017‐18 2017‐18

ORIGINAL AMENDED YTD BALANCE AVAILABLE % BDGT

GL NUMBER BUDGET BUDGET 10/31/2017 BALANCE USED

Fund 101 ‐ General Fund

  000.000‐General 2,157,936.00 2,157,936.00 1,559,461.15 598,474.85 72.27

  215.000‐Aministration and Clerk 165.00 165.00 28.30 136.70 17.15

  253.000‐Treasurer 980.00 980.00 510.00 470.00 52.04

  301.000‐Police Dept 5,400.00 5,400.00 4,676.90 723.10 86.61

  345.000‐PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING 24,200.00 24,200.00 6,483.50 17,716.50 26.79

  410.000‐Building & Zoning & Planning 41,120.00 41,120.00 31,397.58 9,722.42 76.36

  410.025‐2017 CDBG 5157 Morrish Demo 0.00 12,000.00 0.00 12,000.00 0.00

  448.000‐Lighting 8,921.52 8,921.52 2,573.84 6,347.68 28.85

  782.000‐Facilities ‐ Winshall Park 140.00 140.00 160.00 (20.00) 114.29

  783.000‐Facilities ‐ Elms Rd Park 28,552.25 28,552.25 1,530.00 27,022.25 5.36

  783.016‐Elms Park Brm‐Trail Reno RP15‐0 45,000.00 45,000.00 0.00 45,000.00 0.00

  790.000‐Facilities‐Senior Center/Libr 7,900.00 7,900.00 2,542.95 5,357.05 32.19

  790.012‐2014 CDBG Senior Center Operat 1,724.00 1,724.00 0.00 1,724.00 0.00

  797.000‐Facilities ‐ City Parking Lots 115,000.00 115,000.00 115,000.00 0.00 100.00

  TOTAL REVENUES 2,437,038.77 2,449,038.77 1,724,364.22 724,674.55 70.41

  000.000‐General 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 1,500.00 0.00

  101.000‐Council 17,444.34 17,444.34 7,472.89 9,971.45 42.84

  172.000‐Executive 109,122.71 109,122.71 24,045.35 85,077.36 22.04

  201.000‐Finance,Budgeting,Accounting 41,961.15 41,961.15 17,379.06 24,582.09 41.42

  215.000‐Aministration and Clerk 23,369.31 23,369.31 8,200.43 15,168.88 35.09

  228.000‐Information Technology 12,850.00 12,850.00 6,320.00 6,530.00 49.18

REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK

PERIOD ENDING 10/31/2017

City Council Packet 26 November 27, 2017



2017‐18 2017‐18

ORIGINAL AMENDED YTD BALANCE AVAILABLE % BDGT

GL NUMBER BUDGET BUDGET 10/31/2017 BALANCE USED

  247.000‐Board of Review 3,665.00 3,665.00 78.12 3,586.88 2.13

  253.000‐Treasurer 41,933.86 41,933.86 10,942.22 30,991.64 26.09

  257.000‐Assessor 67,412.15 76,412.15 11,880.75 64,531.40 15.55

  262.000‐Elections 35,435.69 35,435.69 4,034.96 31,400.73 11.39

  266.000‐Legal Council 20,000.00 20,000.00 4,902.00 15,098.00 24.51

  301.000‐Police Dept 0.00 665,914.00 669,894.42 (3,980.42) 100.60

  301.851‐Retiree Employer Health Care PSF 26,750.00 26,750.00 5,097.17 21,652.83 19.05

  334.000‐Metro Police Authority 1,005,000.00 1,005,000.00 270,000.00 735,000.00 26.87

  336.000‐Fire Department 156,530.00 156,530.00 64,237.91 92,292.09 41.04

  345.000‐PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING 54,707.15 54,707.15 18,412.67 36,294.48 33.66

  410.000‐Building & Zoning & Planning 72,496.81 72,496.81 12,697.43 59,799.38 17.51

  410.025‐2017 CDBG 5157 Morrish Demo 0.00 12,925.00 0.00 12,925.00 0.00

  448.000‐Lighting 160,000.00 160,000.00 78,346.79 81,653.21 48.97

  463.000‐Routine Maint ‐ Streets 0.00 21,917.10 21,917.10 0.00 100.00

  728.000‐Economic Development 0.00 0.00 7,502.96 (7,502.96) 100.00

  780.000‐Parks & Recreation 5,500.00 5,500.00 744.25 4,755.75 13.53

  781.000‐Facilities ‐ Pajtas Amphitheat 1,876.45 1,876.45 757.75 1,118.70 40.38

  782.000‐Facilities ‐ Winshall Park 36,256.52 36,256.52 9,246.85 27,009.67 25.50

  783.000‐Facilities ‐ Elms Rd Park 60,324.31 81,274.31 59,092.86 22,181.45 72.71

  783.016‐Elms Park Brm‐Trail Reno RP15‐0 100,745.86 55,622.57 15,565.70 40,056.87 27.98

  784.000‐Facilities ‐ Bicentennial Park 6,264.40 6,264.40 212.74 6,051.66 3.40

  787.000‐Veterans Memorial Park 3,691.00 3,691.00 1,506.36 2,184.64 40.81

  790.000‐Facilities‐Senior Center/Libr 36,410.58 36,410.58 11,003.93 25,406.65 30.22

  790.012‐2014 CDBG Senior Center Operat 1,724.00 1,724.00 0.00 1,724.00 0.00
City Council Packet 27 November 27, 2017



2017‐18 2017‐18

ORIGINAL AMENDED YTD BALANCE AVAILABLE % BDGT

GL NUMBER BUDGET BUDGET 10/31/2017 BALANCE USED

  793.000‐Facilities ‐ New City Hall 27,084.35 27,084.35 5,088.73 21,995.62 18.79

  794.000‐Community Promotions Program 25,469.60 25,469.60 7,306.44 18,163.16 28.69

  796.000‐Facilities ‐ Cemetary 6,930.82 6,930.82 809.16 6,121.66 11.67

  797.000‐Facilities ‐ City Parking Lots 101,856.00 101,856.00 463.59 101,392.41 0.46

  851.000‐Retired Employee Health Care 38,000.00 38,000.00 3,887.84 34,112.16 10.23

  852.000‐Insurance Claims Assessmernt (Ta 150.00 150.00 37.28 112.72 24.85

  965.000‐Transfers Out 123,655.00 123,655.00 93,655.00 30,000.00 75.74

  TOTAL EXPENDITURES 2,426,117.06 3,111,699.87 1,452,740.71 1,658,959.16 46.69

Fund 101 ‐ General Fund:

TOTAL REVENUES 2,437,038.77 2,449,038.77 1,724,364.22 724,674.55 70.41

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 2,426,117.06 3,111,699.87 1,452,740.71 1,658,959.16 46.69

NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES 10,921.71 (662,661.10) 271,623.51 (934,284.61) 40.99

Fund 202 ‐ Major Street Fund

  000.000‐General 400,200.00 400,200.00 79,984.19 320,215.81 19.99

  441.000‐Miller Rd Park & Ride 5,000.00 5,000.00 1,846.86 3,153.14 36.94

  478.000‐Snow & Ice Removal 5,000.00 5,000.00 0.00 5,000.00 0.00

  TOTAL REVENUES 410,200.00 410,200.00 81,831.05 328,368.95 19.95

  228.000‐Information Technology 575.00 575.00 263.50 311.50 45.83

  429.000‐Occupational Safety 43.06 43.06 0.00 43.06 0.00

  441.000‐Miller Rd Park & Ride 5,256.20 5,256.20 1,714.55 3,541.65 32.62

  449.500‐Right of Way ‐ General 10,000.00 10,000.00 1,713.00 8,287.00 17.13

  449.501‐Right of Way ‐ Storms 200.00 200.00 0.00 200.00 0.00

  453.103‐Miller Rd ‐ Morrish Rd to Elms Rd 0.00 0.00 708.93 (708.93) 100.00

  463.000‐Routine Maint ‐ Streets 366,178.90 365,021.09 341,771.14 23,249.95 93.63

  463.104‐Winston Drive Reconstruction 168,837.00 168,837.00 195.00 168,642.00 0.12

City Council Packet 28 November 27, 2017



2017‐18 2017‐18

ORIGINAL AMENDED YTD BALANCE AVAILABLE % BDGT

GL NUMBER BUDGET BUDGET 10/31/2017 BALANCE USED

  473.000‐Routine Maint ‐ Bridges 495.00 495.00 0.00 495.00 0.00

  474.000‐Traffic Services 19,130.00 27,640.38 18,279.90 9,360.48 66.13

  478.000‐Snow & Ice Removal 58,569.40 58,569.40 (30.86) 58,600.26 (0.05)

  482.000‐Administrative 18,241.00 18,241.00 5,523.47 12,717.53 30.28

  538.500‐Intercommunity storm drains 10,000.00 10,000.00 1,117.46 8,882.54 11.17

  786.000‐Non‐Motorized Trailway 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00

  TOTAL EXPENDITURES 660,525.56 667,878.13 371,256.09 296,622.04 55.59

Fund 202 ‐ Major Street Fund:

TOTAL REVENUES 410,200.00 410,200.00 81,831.05 328,368.95 19.95

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 660,525.56 667,878.13 371,256.09 296,622.04 55.59

NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES (250,325.56) (257,678.13) (289,425.04) 31,746.91 112.32

Fund 203 ‐ Local Street Fund

  000.000‐General 125,020.00 125,020.00 23,551.80 101,468.20 18.84

  449.000‐Right of Way Telecomm 15,000.00 15,000.00 0.00 15,000.00 0.00

  463.000‐Routine Maint ‐ Streets 0.00 0.00 441.42 (441.42) 100.00

  478.000‐Snow & Ice Removal 2,200.00 2,200.00 0.00 2,200.00 0.00

  931.000‐Transfers IN 394,850.00 394,850.00 465,000.00 (70,150.00) 117.77

  TOTAL REVENUES 537,070.00 537,070.00 488,993.22 48,076.78 91.05

  228.000‐Information Technology 575.00 575.00 263.50 311.50 45.83

  449.000‐Right of Way Telecomm 3,500.00 3,500.00 0.00 3,500.00 0.00

  449.500‐Right of Way ‐ General 4,675.00 4,675.00 3,590.78 1,084.22 76.81

  449.501‐Right of Way ‐ Storms 1,500.00 1,500.00 0.00 1,500.00 0.00

  463.000‐Routine Maint ‐ Streets 491,184.19 500,118.94 274,481.31 225,637.63 54.88

  463.102‐Yarmy Dr/Parkridge Pkwy Paving  168,661.72 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

  463.103‐Worchester/Chesterfield Reconst 0.00 1,536,996.02 632,009.42 904,986.60 41.12

  463.105‐Daval Reconcstruction 97,797.60 97,797.60 1,206.00 96,591.60 1.23
City Council Packet 29 November 27, 2017



2017‐18 2017‐18

ORIGINAL AMENDED YTD BALANCE AVAILABLE % BDGT

GL NUMBER BUDGET BUDGET 10/31/2017 BALANCE USED

  474.000‐Traffic Services 12,130.00 12,130.00 605.74 11,524.26 4.99

  478.000‐Snow & Ice Removal 50,275.20 50,275.20 (32.79) 50,307.99 (0.07)

  482.000‐Administrative 18,003.00 18,003.00 13,728.57 4,274.43 76.26

  538.500‐Intercommunity storm drains 6,500.00 6,500.00 1,117.46 5,382.54 17.19

  TOTAL EXPENDITURES 854,801.71 2,232,070.76 926,969.99 1,305,100.77 41.53

Fund 203 ‐ Local Street Fund:

TOTAL REVENUES 537,070.00 537,070.00 488,993.22 48,076.78 91.05

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 854,801.71 2,232,070.76 926,969.99 1,305,100.77 41.53

NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES (317,731.71) (1,695,000.76) (437,976.77) (1,257,023.99) 25.84

Fund 204 ‐ MUNICIPAL STREET FUND

  000.000‐General 610,535.00 610,535.00 583,836.28 26,698.72 95.63

  TOTAL REVENUES 610,535.00 610,535.00 583,836.28 26,698.72 95.63

  905.000‐Debt Service 165,666.66 165,666.66 15,362.91 150,303.75 9.27

  965.000‐Transfers Out 394,850.00 394,850.00 465,000.00 (70,150.00) 117.77

  TOTAL EXPENDITURES 560,516.66 560,516.66 480,362.91 80,153.75 85.70

Fund 204 ‐ MUNICIPAL STREET FUND:

TOTAL REVENUES 610,535.00 610,535.00 583,836.28 26,698.72 95.63

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 560,516.66 560,516.66 480,362.91 80,153.75 85.70

NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES 50,018.34 50,018.34 103,473.37 (53,455.03) 206.87

Fund 226 ‐ Garbage Fund

  000.000‐General 374,771.00 374,771.00 357,553.56 17,217.44 95.41

  TOTAL REVENUES 374,771.00 374,771.00 357,553.56 17,217.44 95.41

  000.000‐General 10,865.50 10,865.50 9,365.50 1,500.00 86.19

  101.000‐Council 6,176.87 6,176.87 1,396.56 4,780.31 22.61

  172.000‐Executive 9,354.66 9,354.66 2,804.25 6,550.41 29.98

  201.000‐Finance,Budgeting,Accounting 6,106.00 6,106.00 2,519.85 3,586.15 41.27

  215.000‐Aministration and Clerk 4,492.15 4,492.15 1,052.72 3,439.43 23.43

City Council Packet 30 November 27, 2017



2017‐18 2017‐18

ORIGINAL AMENDED YTD BALANCE AVAILABLE % BDGT

GL NUMBER BUDGET BUDGET 10/31/2017 BALANCE USED

  228.000‐Information Technology 1,500.00 1,500.00 747.84 752.16 49.86

  253.000‐Treasurer 8,040.29 8,040.29 2,085.95 5,954.34 25.94

  257.000‐Assessor 3,000.00 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.00

  528.000‐Sanitation Collection 287,719.20 287,719.20 70,471.76 217,247.44 24.49

  529.000‐Hazardous Waste Pickup 360.00 360.00 0.00 360.00 0.00

  530.000‐Wood Chipping 44,107.38 41,663.14 16,869.85 24,793.29 40.49

  782.000‐Facilities ‐ Winshall Park 3,153.60 4,433.91 3,311.33 1,122.58 74.68

  783.000‐Facilities ‐ Elms Rd Park 4,443.20 5,607.13 3,547.60 2,059.53 63.27

  793.000‐Facilities ‐ New City Hall 4,251.25 4,251.25 1,089.16 3,162.09 25.62

  TOTAL EXPENDITURES 393,570.10 393,570.10 115,262.37 278,307.73 29.29

Fund 226 ‐ Garbage Fund:

TOTAL REVENUES 374,771.00 374,771.00 357,553.56 17,217.44 95.41

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 393,570.10 393,570.10 115,262.37 278,307.73 29.29

NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES (18,799.10) (18,799.10) 242,291.19 (261,090.29) 1,288.84

Fund 248 ‐ Downtown Development Fund

  000.000‐General 61,050.00 61,050.00 40,894.94 20,155.06 66.99

  728.004‐Family Movie Night 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 0.00 100.00

  TOTAL REVENUES 62,050.00 62,050.00 41,894.94 20,155.06 67.52

  173.000‐DDA Administration 3,670.00 3,670.00 16.84 3,653.16 0.46

  728.000‐Economic Development 15,000.00 15,000.00 7,871.48 7,128.52 52.48

  728.002‐Streetscape 90,000.00 90,000.00 0.00 90,000.00 0.00

  728.003‐Facade Program 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 10,000.00 0.00

  728.004‐Family Movie Night 3,900.00 3,900.00 2,332.68 1,567.32 59.81

  TOTAL EXPENDITURES 122,570.00 122,570.00 10,221.00 112,349.00 8.34

Fund 248 ‐ Downtown Development Fund:

TOTAL REVENUES 62,050.00 62,050.00 41,894.94 20,155.06 67.52

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 122,570.00 122,570.00 10,221.00 112,349.00 8.34
City Council Packet 31 November 27, 2017



2017‐18 2017‐18

ORIGINAL AMENDED YTD BALANCE AVAILABLE % BDGT

GL NUMBER BUDGET BUDGET 10/31/2017 BALANCE USED

NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES (60,520.00) (60,520.00) 31,673.94 (92,193.94) 52.34

Fund 590 ‐ Water Supply Fund

  000.000‐General 1,100.00 1,100.00 (525.23) 1,625.23 (47.75)

  540.000‐Water System 2,149,590.00 2,149,590.00 532,008.60 1,617,581.40 24.75

  TOTAL REVENUES 2,150,690.00 2,150,690.00 531,483.37 1,619,206.63 24.71

  000.000‐General 35,403.57 35,403.57 23,413.75 11,989.82 66.13

  101.000‐Council 9,106.87 9,106.87 3,490.76 5,616.11 38.33

  172.000‐Executive 40,705.19 40,705.19 9,729.79 30,975.40 23.90

  201.000‐Finance,Budgeting,Accounting 19,243.00 19,243.00 7,366.06 11,876.94 38.28

  215.000‐Aministration and Clerk 15,169.87 15,169.87 3,796.07 11,373.80 25.02

  228.000‐Information Technology 5,590.00 5,590.00 1,913.87 3,676.13 34.24

  253.000‐Treasurer 29,737.57 29,737.57 7,938.37 21,799.20 26.69

  540.000‐Water System 2,372,407.74 2,382,678.74 869,323.14 1,513,355.60 36.49

  542.000‐Read and Bill 59,602.40 59,602.40 12,848.54 46,753.86 21.56

  793.000‐Facilities ‐ New City Hall 10,252.93 10,252.93 2,718.64 7,534.29 26.52

  850.000‐Other Functions 12,000.00 12,000.00 0.00 12,000.00 0.00

  905.000‐Debt Service 49,484.84 49,484.84 4,588.91 44,895.93 9.27

  TOTAL EXPENDITURES 2,658,703.98 2,668,974.98 947,127.90 1,721,847.08 35.49

Fund 590 ‐ Water Supply Fund:

TOTAL REVENUES 2,150,690.00 2,150,690.00 531,483.37 1,619,206.63 24.71

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 2,658,703.98 2,668,974.98 947,127.90 1,721,847.08 35.49

NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES (508,013.98) (518,284.98) (415,644.53) (102,640.45) 80.20

Fund 591 ‐ Sanitary Sewer Fund

  000.000‐General 1,080.00 1,080.00 318.11 761.89 29.45

  536.000‐Sewer System 1,290,040.00 1,290,040.00 302,596.63 987,443.37 23.46

  TOTAL REVENUES 1,291,120.00 1,291,120.00 302,914.74 988,205.26 23.46

City Council Packet 32 November 27, 2017



2017‐18 2017‐18

ORIGINAL AMENDED YTD BALANCE AVAILABLE % BDGT

GL NUMBER BUDGET BUDGET 10/31/2017 BALANCE USED

  000.000‐General 24,913.75 24,913.75 23,413.75 1,500.00 93.98

  101.000‐Council 9,206.87 9,206.87 3,491.13 5,715.74 37.92

  172.000‐Executive 33,513.99 33,513.99 9,752.10 23,761.89 29.10

  201.000‐Finance,Budgeting,Accounting 19,198.00 19,198.00 7,365.79 11,832.21 38.37

  215.000‐Aministration and Clerk 15,056.87 15,056.87 3,796.02 11,260.85 25.21

  228.000‐Information Technology 5,590.00 5,590.00 1,913.87 3,676.13 34.24

  253.000‐Treasurer 29,608.57 29,608.57 7,938.17 21,670.40 26.81

  536.000‐Sewer System 957,820.70 968,091.70 187,303.14 780,788.56 19.35

  537.000‐Sewer Lift Stations 23,053.60 23,053.60 6,220.73 16,832.87 26.98

  542.000‐Read and Bill 62,439.04 62,439.04 15,465.86 46,973.18 24.77

  543.401‐Flush & TV Sewers 30,904.00 30,904.00 0.00 30,904.00 0.00

  543.407‐Sewer Rehab Phase 7 179,958.00 179,958.00 0.00 179,958.00 0.00

  793.000‐Facilities ‐ New City Hall 10,742.93 10,742.93 2,671.87 8,071.06 24.87

  850.000‐Other Functions 10,000.00 10,000.00 0.00 10,000.00 0.00

  TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,412,006.32 1,422,277.32 269,332.43 1,152,944.89 18.94

Fund 591 ‐ Sanitary Sewer Fund:

TOTAL REVENUES 1,291,120.00 1,291,120.00 302,914.74 988,205.26 23.46

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,412,006.32 1,422,277.32 269,332.43 1,152,944.89 18.94

NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES (120,886.32) (131,157.32) 33,582.31 (164,739.63) 25.60

Fund 661 ‐ Motor Pool Fund

  000.000‐General 160,270.00 160,270.00 47,596.85 112,673.15 29.70

  TOTAL REVENUES 160,270.00 160,270.00 47,596.85 112,673.15 29.70

  172.000‐Executive 13,606.00 13,606.00 10,856.00 2,750.00 79.79

  201.000‐Finance,Budgeting,Accounting 7,591.00 7,591.00 2,087.89 5,503.11 27.50

  228.000‐Information Technology 450.00 450.00 179.06 270.94 39.79

  795.000‐Facilities ‐ City Garage 178,335.20 199,229.70 29,692.05 169,537.65 14.90
City Council Packet 33 November 27, 2017



2017‐18 2017‐18

ORIGINAL AMENDED YTD BALANCE AVAILABLE % BDGT

GL NUMBER BUDGET BUDGET 10/31/2017 BALANCE USED

  TOTAL EXPENDITURES 199,982.20 220,876.70 42,815.00 178,061.70 19.38

Fund 661 ‐ Motor Pool Fund:

TOTAL REVENUES 160,270.00 160,270.00 47,596.85 112,673.15 29.70

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 199,982.20 220,876.70 42,815.00 178,061.70 19.38

NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES (39,712.20) (60,606.70) 4,781.85 (65,388.55) 7.89

City Council Packet 34 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 35 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 36 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 37 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 38 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 39 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 40 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 41 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 42 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 43 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 44 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 45 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 46 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 47 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 48 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 49 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 50 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 51 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 52 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 53 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 54 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 55 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 56 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 57 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 58 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 59 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 60 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 61 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 62 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 63 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 64 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 65 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 66 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 67 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 68 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 69 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 70 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 71 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 72 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 73 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 74 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 75 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 76 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 77 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 78 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 79 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 80 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 81 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 82 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 83 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 84 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 85 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 86 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 87 November 27, 2017



lIIIllIIl

Chhn@e Order No.

EfF?vge Dato:

Cky of Swartz Creek C)wrier's Cnmraa NO.:

Glaeser Daives Corp. Contrador's Projea No.:

Erigineer: ROWE professionai Services company tng)neer's pro)eci NO-:
Project: 2017 Paving ProJeds Contract Name:

The Contrad is modified as-rollovvs upon execut?on of this Change Order:

Date of lssuance:

Owner:

Contractor:

.'.JCDC!N
a??* ?N: E'JN'%VY
'.0(ll%llll+l l-IMlfittt

20-Nov-17

16CO181

2017 Pav}ng Projeds

4

l

l

Description: Reconstrudion of Daval Street

Attachmems: Bid pr?ce

r

CHANGE IN CDNTRACT PRICE

Or{ginal C?omrad Price:

S 2.9(X84532

J[Decreasel 4rom pr-evio-ushl approved
Change Orders No. i To No. 3 :

S (14,332.50)

Contraa Price prior to this Change Order.

S 2,892,513.02

ffilr)ecreasel of this change order:

S 1,086,161.60

Contraa Priee incorporatirig this Charige Order:

S 3,978,642
V

BY:

WMENDED:

. E glneer (ff requlred)

bQ Ii-t .f 1l'iQ,(2,:=-,tr

{i/>/t7
7

Approved by Fundtng %ency ( K applicable)

By:

T+tle:

TRle:

Date:

By:

Title:

Date:

CHANGE IN CONnlACT TIMES

(nme changes in Milestones if appliu:xble)
'Original Contract Times:
'Substantial Completion:
Ready for Final Paymerrt: Novernber 15. 2017

l days or dmes

[lncreasel (Decrease] from prev:ousp approved
Change Onlers No. To No. ??:
Substamial Compltaon:

Ready €or Final Payment:

J

lContract T!mes pr?ot to this Change Order:
Substantial Cornpletion:

Readylot Final Payment:
l
A

11
[lncreasel [Decreasel of thts Change?Order:
Substant{al Completion:

Ready for Final Payrnern: August 17, 2018
1 days or dates

J?Coritrad Times witb all approved Change?'0-rders:
iSuhstantial Complet!on:
{Readylor Final Payrnent:
I

ACCEPTED:

N/A

days

N/A

days or dates

August 17, 2018

days or date?

ACCEPTED:

= ?y[;].?
Contractor lAuthorized)

?r g '? k% r -
ti/:zo/iy

Owner (Authormd)

ntle:

Date:

Date:

City Council Packet 88 November 27, 2017



t
' Pay item was not included in 2017 project.

l
l

, R( llVb l'i;t 'b t %%ll a% Si-CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK h si ys l(T r (' t +tir 1 S sDAVAL DRIVE RECONSTRUCTION PROJECT 540 S. Saginaw Street, Suite 200

July 31, 2017 Flint, MI48502
Description: Road Reconstruction including paving, curb and gutter, drive approaches, sidewalk,
water main replacement, {ree plantings, signage, and pavement markings on Daval Drive from
Winshall Drive to Chesterfield Drive.

s tm n
m Gfi
m s m
m *
m h mm

Pay Item
2018 Project

Quantity Units

2017

Bid Price

2018

Bid Price 2018 Total
155001 Maintaining Traffic 1 LSUM $8,825.00 $7,200.00 $7,200.00
155005 Maintenance Gravel 210 Ton $4.25 S14.75 $3,097.50
174001 Cleanup and Restoration 1 LSUM $7,205.00 $7,205.00
241005 Pavt, Rem 7,820 S7d $4.70 $4.70 $36,754.00
241010 Sidewalk, Rem 890 Syd $2.95 $2.95 $2,625.50

3110023 Tree, Rem, 6 inch to 18 inch 8 Ea $150.00 $150.00 $1 ,200.00
3110024 Tree, Rem, 19 inch to 36 inch 8 Ea $500.00 $500.00 $4,000.00
3123001 Misc Pipe Repr 10 Ea $1 50.00 $1 50.00 $1 ,!)oo.oo
31 23C)1 1 Subgrade Undercutting, Type 11 260 Cyd $14.00 $14.00 $3,640.00
3123015 Machine Grading 22 Sta $1 ,460.00 $1 ,460.00 $az,i:>o.oo
3123021 Geotextile, Separator 7,900 S7d $1 .70 $1 .70 $r 3,430.00
3125001 Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control 1 LSUM $3,365.00 $3,150.00 $3,150.00
3211028 Aggregate Base, 10 inch 7,900 S7d $14.60 $i4.60 $115,340.00
3212025 HMA,13A 1 ,300 Ton $65.85 $65.85 $85,605.00
3212031 HMA, 3C 900 Ton $61 .30 $55,170.00
3213016 Curb and Gutter, Conc, Det C4 4,435 Ft $12.4B $12.48 $55,348.80
3213070 Detectable Warning Surface 70 Ft $32.00 $32.00 $2,240.00
3213076 Sidewalk Ramp, Conc, 4 inch 240 Sff $5.75 $1 ,380.00
3213077 Sidewalk Ramp, Conc, 6 inch 385 Sfl $6.17 $6.17 $2,375.45
3213086 Sidewalk, Conc, 4 inch 7,075 Sff $3.65 $3.65 $25,823.75
3213087 Sidewalk, Conc, 6 inch 2,235 Sff $4.35 $4.35 $9,722.25
3213115 Driveway, Nonreinf Conc, 6 inch 590 S7d $38.80 $38.80 $22,892.00
3217001 Pavement Markings 1 LSUM $4,159.50 $4,183.00 $4,183.00
3292001 Turf Establishment 1 LSUM $48,302.00 $22,740.00 $22,740.00
3293005 Ginko biloba 'Ginko', 2 inch (1 ) 7 Ea $350.00 $460.00 $3,220.00
3293006 Syringa reticulata 'Japanese Lilac', 2 inch (1 ) g Ea $350.00 $460.00 $4,140.00
3293008 Acerrubrum'RedMaple',21/2inch (1) , 16 Ea $460.00 $7,360.00
3305040 Dr Structure Cover, Adj, Case 1 4 Ea $350.00 $350.00 $1 ,400.00
3305041 Dr Structure Cover, Adj, Case 2 1 Ea $300.00 $300.00
3305060 Dr Structure Cover, Type B 4 Ea $800.00 $3,200.00
3305700 Dr Structure Cover, ADA 1 Ea $950.00 $950.00
3344002 Dr Structure, Rem 14 Ea $250.00 $250.00 $3,500.00
3344005 Storm Sewer, Rem, Less than 24 inch 655 Ft $9.15 $9.15 $5,993.25
3344011 Storm Sewer, CI A, 6 inch, Tr Det B 14 Ft $35.45 $496.30
3344301 Storm Sewer, RCP Cl 111, 12 inch, Tr Det B 653 Ft $39.00 $39.00 $25,467.00
3344451 Storm Sewer Tap, 6 inch 1 Ea $400.00 $400.00
3344500 Dr Structure, 24 inch dia 9 Ea $1 ,580.00 $1 ,580.00 $14,220.00
3344501 Dr Structure, 48 inch dia 7 Ea $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $"t<,ooo.oo
3344524 Dr Structure, Tap, 12 inch g Ea $705.00 $6,345.00
3346002 Underdrain, Subbase, 6 inch 520 Ft $12.30 $12.30 $6,396.00
3441001 Permanent Traffic Signs (2) 1 LSUM $22,931 .86 $39,202.00 $39,202.00
 

City Council Packet 89 November 27, 2017



' Pay item was not included in 2Cll7 protect.

1

2

3

Tree prices higher due to increase in material cost.
Permanent Traffic Signs - Price based on decorative sign posts vs standard posts on plans.
Watermain prices higher due to an increase in material cost.

--1-...'llulllllll" -mmw

Pay ltem Description
2018 Project

Quantity UnitS

2017

Bid Price

2018

Bid Price 2018 Total
155005 Maintenance Gravel 240 Ton $4.25 $14.75 $3,540.00
241005 Pavt, Rem 620 S7d $4.70 $4.70 $2,914.00
241010 Sidewalk, Rem 1,040 S7d $2.95 $2.95 $3,068.00

3110023 Tree, Rem, 6 inch to 18 inch 6 Ea $150.00 $150.00 $900.00
3110024 Tree, Rem, 1 9 inch to 36 inch 3 Ea $500.00 $500.00 $'l ,500.00
3123001 Misc Pipe Repr qo Ea 5i 50.00 si 50.00 $1 ,500.00
3211024 Aggregate base, 6 inch 15 S7d $10.00 $16.53 $247.95
3212007 e)riveway, HMA - 15 S7d s62.60 $939.00
3213070 e)etectable Warning Surface 160 Ft $32.00 $32.00 $5,120.00
3213076 Sidewalk Ramp, Conc, 4 inch 565 Sft $5.75 $3,248.75
3213077 gidewalk Ramp, (5onc, 6 inch 705 Sfl $6.17 $6.17 $4,349.85
3213086 gidewalk, Conc, 4 inch 7,380 m $3.65 $3.65 $26,937.00
3213087 Sidewalk, Conc, 6 inch 2,545 m $4.35 $4.35 $11 ,070.75
3213115 Driveway, Nonreinr Conc, 6 inch 695 S9d $38.80 $38.80 $26,966.00
3293005 (3inko biloba 'Ginko', 2 inch (1 ) qo Ea $350.00 $460.00 $4,600.00
3293006 Syringa reticulata 'Japanese Lilac', 2 inch (1 ) g Ea $350.00 $460.00 $4,140.00
3293008 Acerrubrum'RedMaple',21/2inch (1) 5 Ea $460.00 $2,300.00
3305030 Gate Box, Adj, Case 1 2 Ea $300.00 $600.00
3311001 Hydrant, Rem 4 Ea $1 70.00 $170.00 $680.00
3:311005 FireHydrant (3) 5 Ea $4,765.00 $4,865.00 $24,325.00
3311017 (3ate Valve and Box, 8 inch ' 12 Ea sq ,'7so.oo $r ,750.00 $21 ,ooo.oo
3311027 Gate Valve and Well, 8 inch 1 Ea $4,558.00 $4,558.00 $4,558.00
3311052 Water Main, Abandon I LSUM $8,645.00 $8,645.00 $8,645.00
3311065 Water Main, Dl, 6 inch, Tr Det G (3) 15 Ft- $53.00 $54.00 $810.00
3311069 Water Main, Dl, 8 inch, Tr Det G (3) 2,575 Ft- $69.50 $71.50 $184,112.50
3311244 Wa{er Serv, Type K Copper, 1 inch, Tr Det G 1 ,270 Ft $26.00 $26.00 $33,020.00
3311271 Curb Stop and BOX, 1 inch 38 ' Ea $350.00 $350.00 $* 3,300.00
3311281 Corporat!6n and Tap, 1 inch 38 Ea $350.00 $350.00 $13,300.00
3311370 Connect to Existing Water Main 11 Ea $1 ,400.00 $1 ,400.00 $i 5,400.00
3311375 Testirig and Disinfection 1 LSUM $11;lal9.00 $7,738.00 . $7,738.00

immmw
mlT  i  l W
mlmlW

City Council Packet 90 November 27, 2017



Ak, ROWE PROFESSIONAL

Lar3e Firm Resources. Persona( Atterxtion. sm

November 21, 2017

Mr. Adam Zettel, AICP, City Manager
City of Swartz Creek
8083 Civic Drive

Swartz Creek, MI 48473

Subject: ConstructionEngineeringProposal-20l8PavingProject

Dear Mr. Zettel:

ROWE Professional Services Company (ROWE) is pleased to provide a constmction engineering proposal
for the 2018 street replacement project. Work will involve watermain replacement and street reconstmction
of Daval Drive. Glaeser Dawes Corporation has subrriitted a bid price of $1,086,161.60.

A 16-week construction schedule is anticipated; our fee for providing construction engineering services for
this project is $124,952; attached is the cost breakdown.

We look forward to another successful project with the city. If you should have any questions or need any
additional in,formation, please do not hesitate to contact me at our corporate office.

Very truly j!rs,
ROWE P4essional Services Company

<:i;j

Louis

Sr.

'Fli

ect,

, P.E.

anager

R:'isdsklProjlPROPOSALICUSswartz creekl20l8 paving pro3ectSce proposal.docx

Engineering l Surveying l AerialPhotography/Mapping l LandscapeArchitechire l Planning
Corporate: The ROWE Building,- 540 S. Saginaw Street, Ste. 200 * Flint, MI 48502 * O (810) 341-7500 * F (810) 341-7573

With Offices In: Lapeer, MI * Mt. Pleasant, MI * Farmington Hills, MI * Lansing, MI * Grayling, MI * Tri-Cities, MI * Myrtle Beach, SC
www.towepsc.comCity Council Packet 91 November 27, 2017



City of Swartz Creek
2018 Paving Project

Construction Engineering Fee Breakdown
November 21, 2017

Construction Observation and Contract Administration:

Construction Observer

Measure Contract Quantities
Prepare Inspector Daily Reports (IDR's)
Prepare Record Information on Utility Work
Perform Sub-Base Density Testing
Verify Construction Compliance with Contract Specifications
Attend Progress Meetings

80 days x 12 hrs/day @ $95/hr. $91,200

Construction Staking
Storm Sewer/ Curb & Gutter
Cut Sheets

80 hrs @ $160/hr.
8 hrs @ $751hr.

$12,800
$600

Contract Administration
Resolve Contractor Issues

Attend Progress Meetings
Process Pay Estimates
Verify Work Quantities with Contractor
Process Final Payment

8 hrs./wk. x 16 wks. @ $136/hr. $17,408

Prepare Record Drawings 32 hrs. @ $92/hr. $2,944

Construction Engineering Total $124,952

City Council Packet 92 November 27, 2017



Swartz Creek Zoning Board of Appeals 
Draft Minutes: November 15, 2017 
 

1 
 

CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 
SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN 

MINUTES OF THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
NOVEMBER 15, 2017 

 
The Regular Meeting was called to order at 6:02 pm by Chairman Packer in the Swartz 
Creek City Council Chambers, 8083 Civic Drive. 
 
Board members Present:  Packer, Plumb, Smith. 
 
Alternates Present:  Alternates Barclay & Fountain. 
 
Board members Absent Porath & Stephens. 
 
Staff Present:  Adam Zettel. 
 
Others Present: Dustin Burton. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Resolution No. 171115-01                                 (Carried) 
 

Motion by Board Member Smith 
Second by Board Member Plumb 
 
The Swartz Creek City Zoning Board of Appeals hereby approves the 
Agenda of the Regular Board Meeting of November 15, 2017 as printed. 
 

   Unanimous Voice Vote 
Motion declared carried 

  
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

 
Resolution No. 171115-02                       (Carried) 

 
Motion by Board Member Plumb 
Second by Board Member Barclay 
 
The Swartz Creek City Zoning Board of Appeals hereby approves the 
Minutes of the Regular Board Meeting June 14, 2017, to be approved. 
 

   Unanimous Voice Vote 
Motion declared carried 

 
Meeting Open To The Public: No comments. 
 
VARIANCE APPLICATION:  

City Council Packet 93 November 27, 2017



Swartz Creek Zoning Board of Appeals 
Draft Minutes: November 15, 2017 

2 

Dustin Burton, Representative Plaza Street Partners, in regards to the KFC project on 
Miller/Elms Rd. here tonight to request variance for the pylon sign.  

Public Hearing 
Open 6:25 p.m. 
No comments. 
Closed 6:26 p.m. 

Resolution No. 171115-03    (Carried) 

Motion by Boardmember Smith, support by Boardmember Plumb, the 
Swartz Creek Zoning Board of Appeals makes the following findings in 
relation to the variance application for 7026 Miller Road: 

1. The site is unique because it was previously developed as a single
parcel that included a pylon sign, prior to the creation and development
of the most recent Planned Unit Development Plan and businesses
that are in the vicinity.

2. The parcel has been recognized as a priority redevelopment site that
has practical size, locational, and access constraints.

3. Similarly situated sites on the north side of Miller Road that were
developed prior to the PUD possess signs that are within 500 feet of
each other, have steel pole bases, and are not adjacent to I-69.

4. The interstate is elevated at this location, making any permitted pylon
sign height at least 10’ higher.

5. A pylon sign of 45’ in height would be very difficult to practically
construct of masonry materials.

6. The variance request otherwise meets expectations for a sign variance
as enumerated in Zoning Appendix A Section 21.11 A & B.

YES: Plumb, Smith, Barclay, Packer, Fountain 
NO: None.  Motion declared carried.  

Resolution No. 171115-04  (Carried) 

Motion by Boardmember Plumb, support by Boardmember Fountain, the 
Swartz Creek Zoning Board of Appeals approves/denies the variance 
request for pylon sign changes with the following conditions: 

1. Durable, evergreen shrubs minimum of  6’ in height,  shall be planted
around the entire base/foundation of the pylon sign

2. The sign base shall be setback 10’ from the north lot line.

YES: Smith, Barclay, Packer, Fountain, Plumb. 
NO: None.  Motion declared carried/denied.  

City Council Packet 94 November 27, 2017



Swartz Creek Zoning Board of Appeals 
Draft Minutes: November 15, 2017 

3 

Meeting Open To The Public: No comments. 

Adjourn 

Resolution No. 171115-05   (Carried) 

Motion by Zoning Board of Appeals Board Member Smith 
Second by Board Member Barclay 

I Move the Swartz Creek Zoning Board of Appeals adjourns the November 15, 
2017 ZBA meeting. 

Unanimous Voice Vote 
Motion declared carried 

The board unanimously declared the meeting adjourned at approximately 6:35 p.m. 

_______________________________ 
Ronald Smith 
Secretary 

City Council Packet 95 November 27, 2017



City of Swartz Creek                                                              ORDER NUMBER: 171 
A Municipal Corporation                                                                Date of Filing: 2017-11-27 

Permanent: Yes 
                Temporary: Expires _________                    

 
 

TRAFFIC CONTROL ORDER 
 

 
In accordance with Chapter 18, Article II of the Code of Ordinances, and pursuant to the Michigan 
Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices adopted by the City of Swartz Creek, an investigation has 
been conducted by the traffic control engineer, relative to conditions at: Both sides of Ingalls Street 
between Fairchild Street and School Street. 
 
 
And as a result of said investigation, do hereby direct that: Stopping, Standing, and Parking be 
prohibited. 
 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
This Traffic Control Order shall become effective on the 28th day of November, 2017, at 8:00AM 
AND upon sign installation.  
 
The following Traffic Control Order(s) is/are hereby rescinded:  
 
        TCO affects no other known existing order. 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
This order shall expire ninety (90) days from the date of filing, except that upon approval by the 
Council for the City of Swartz Creek, it shall remain in effect indefinitely until such time as rescinded 
temporarily by executive TCO, or permanently by action of the Council. 
 

__________________________ 
Chief of Police / Traffic Engineer 

 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Filed with the Office of the City Clerk on ____________ of __________________, _______________ 
 

___________________________ 
                                                                                                         City Clerk / Deputy City Clerk      

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Approved by the City Council, at a meeting held the __________ day of ______________________,  
____________, Resolution Number: ______________________________. 
 

____________________________ 
                                                                                                        City Clerk / Deputy City Clerk  

City Council Packet 96 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 97 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 98 November 27, 2017



November 15, 2017

Medical Marihuana Facilities - Opt In/Opt Out

City Council Packet 99 November 27, 2017



PAGE 2  Medical Marihuana Facilities - Opt In/Opt Out

This publication is for municipal lawyers whose clients 
are considering “opting in” to allow medical marihuana 
uses under Public Act 281 of 2016, the Medical 
Marihuana Facilities Licensing Act (MMFLA). It will not 
address most of the substantive requirements of that 
law, or of its companion laws, Public Acts 282 and 283, 
or how they operate to establish the new “seed-to-
sale” state regulatory scheme. It assumes that by now 
most municipal attorneys have familiarized themselves 
with the basics of how those laws operate to authorize 
the five kinds of facilities under consideration (grow 
operations, processing centers, testing facilities, secure 
transporters, and provisioning centers).

Rather, the purpose of this publication is to assemble 
some thoughts on advising municipalities about 
the sorts of things that they should consider when 
evaluating their options under the new state regulatory 
scheme. Collected below are some of the concerns 
to be addressed first in deciding whether to opt in to 
authorize the medical marihuana uses now allowed, and 
second, if your municipality chooses to do so, what sort 
of things should be in the regulatory ordinance(s) that 
must be adopted in order to do so.

The state’s Department of Licensing and Regulatory 
Affairs has begun issuing Advisory Bulletins and other 
information that is relevant and useful as this process 
unfolds, and that needs to be regularly monitored for 
updates. The “home page” for the Bureau of Medical 
Marihuana Regulation (BMMR), which is responsible for 
oversight of medical marihuana in Michigan, is found at 
www.Michigan.gov/medicalmarihuana.

In a bulletin issued on October 26, 2017, the BMMR 
has confirmed that “municipalities are not required to 
‘opt out’ or prohibit marihuana facilities within their 
boundaries. If municipalities do nothing, marihuana 
facilities will be unable to be licensed at the state level 
to operate in their locality.” http://www.michigan.gov/
lara/0,4601,7-154-79571-450903--,00.html. The bulletin 
also implicitly confirms that there is no deadline to 
opt in. So, a community that decides to wait beyond 
the December 15, 2017 date on which applicants may 
begin submitting applications to the state, may do so 
without waiving any future opt-in rights. What follows 
is intended for use by those who might want to opt in.

CONSIDERATIONS FOR THE MUNICIPAL LAWYER

This paper is being provided by the Michigan Municipal 
League (MML) to assist its member communities.  

The MML Legal Defense Fund authorized its preparation, by Thomas R. Schultz of Johnson, 

Rosati, Schultz & Joppich. The document does not constitute legal advice and the material is 
provided as information only. All references should be independently confirmed.

The information contained in this paper might become outdated as additional materials are 
released by LARA and the BMMR and administrative rules are put in place.

The spelling of “marihuana” in this paper is the one used in the Michigan statute and is the 
equivalent of “marijuana.”

OTHER RESOURCES

The Michigan Municipal League has compiled numerous resource materials on medical marihuana. They 
are available via the MML web site at: www.mml.org/resources/information/mi-med-marihuana.html

City Council Packet 100 November 27, 2017



Medical Marihuana Facilities - Opt In/Opt Out  PAGE 3  

FILLING A NEED

An argument that your clients will hear frequently from the 
industry is that allowing medical marihuana facilities will fill 
a need in the community and provide easier access to medical 
marihuana for people who are in chronic pain due  
to a debilitating medical condition. This argument assumes 
the medical benefits of marihuana and focuses on the  
pain-relieving aspects of it. There are some effective 
advocates on the industry side on this point, and you may  
see some very personal messaging at your meeting.

IT’S WHAT THE PEOPLE WANT

A similar argument is that the authorization of medical 
marihuana use in a community reflects the attitude of a 
majority of a particular locality. Proponents regularly point 
out the healthy margin by which the initial medical marihuana 
law passed in 2008, and the number of states where 
marihuana uses have been authorized over the years since 
then. This is obviously something that each community will 
need to evaluate and address; some areas seem “all in” on  
the issue, while others have met substantial opposition.

REVENUE GENERATION

Proponents argue that medical marihuana facilities can 
generate revenue for a community. The act allows a 
municipality to charge a nonrefundable fee in an amount  
“not more than” $5,000 annually to help “defray 
administrative and enforcement costs.” MMFLA, Section 
205(3). Of course, the fees charged probably do need to 
approximate those costs, so this fee might end up a wash.

Arguments have also been made that the uses can possibly  
fill vacant buildings or lots and thereby increase property  
tax revenues. Some jobs will likely be created—i.e., 
provisioning centers will require retail workers, large grow 
operations could employ multiple people to engage in  
plant cultivation, etc. 

EASIER MONITORING

Proponents also argue that allowing commercial medical 
marihuana activities, and regulating them through ordinances 
that focus production and distribution into fewer sites, could 
make law enforcement monitoring easier.

AVOIDS LEGISLATION BY CITIZEN “INITIATIVE”

Some municipal lawyers and others have pointed out the 
practical concern that would exist if a local elected body 
determines to “opt out” by not enacting an ordinance 
to allow marihuana facilities, only to have the initiative 
provisions of its charter be used to draft an ordinance to place 
before the voters without any input by that legislative body. 
Adopting an ordinance limiting the number of facilities and 
their location through study and debate might be preferable 
to leaving that task to the industry or your local residents by 
the initiative process where available. 

Generally, the initiative process for local legislation (ordinance 
amendments) is available to cities under the Home Rule 
City Act (HCRA), MCL 117.4i(g) where a city charter permits 
it. There is no specific statutory authority for townships or 
general law villages to use the initiative process to amend 
ordinances, although it may be available in a charter village. 
There is probably no right in any municipality to amend a 
zoning ordinance by initiative. See Korash v Livonia, 388 
Mich 737 (1972). Charter amendments by voter-initiative are 
permitted in home rule cities (MCL 117.18-25) and charter 
villages (MCL 78.14-18).

SERVE AS A “TEMPLATE” FOR  
RECREATIONAL MARIHUANA?

It seems likely that “recreational” marihuana will eventually 
get on the ballot in Michigan as it has elsewhere in the 
country. Current expectations are that this could be as early 
as November 2018. Having a regulatory scheme in place if 
and when that happens—even if it might need to be changed 
or revisited—could put the community in a better position to 
react than if the policymakers have never addressed the issue.

EARLY APPLICANTS THE BEST APPLICANTS?

An argument can be made that delay just means that your 
community is only missing out on the best, most reputable 
industry members—those who might be more likely to 
cooperate with the community as part of an early approval 
process. If you assume that everyone will have to opt in 
eventually, what could be left by the time you do might not 
be the best local partners.

What sorts of arguments have been 
made in favor of opting in?

DECIDING WHETHER TO OPT IN

City Council Packet 101 November 27, 2017



PAGE 4  Medical Marihuana Facilities - Opt In/Opt Out

FEDERAL LAW ISSUE

All of these uses are still illegal under federal law, and we 
don’t know for sure what the federal government will do in 
the future with regard to these specified uses. The status quo 
is that federal attention is diverted away from uses that are 
“authorized” by and operated generally in compliance with 
state laws—but who knows if that will last? Attorney General 
Jeff Sessions has made his view clear: “Good people don’t 
smoke marihuana.” 

On the other hand, the industry seems to be growing at a 
pace that exceeds the federal government’s ability (time/
resources) to do much about it. The likelihood that a 
community (or its elected officials) that is complying with this 
state regulatory scheme will face federal criminal sanctions 
for colluding or cooperating with individuals engaged in the 
violation of federal laws seems small and getting smaller.  
That said, there are no guarantees and your clients should  
be made aware of that.

In October, the National League of Cites presented a very 
thorough webinar “Marijuana Federalism” for state municipal 
leagues. It was conducted by Professor Robert Mikos of 
Vanderbilt University Law School. Articles and books written 
by Professor Mikos can be found at: https://law.vanderbilt.
edu/bio/robert-mikos; also within the resource materials 
available from the Municipal League, as referenced at the 
bottom of Page 2.  

Some providers are dangling significant amounts of cash 
to local government officials (on top of the fees and taxes 
allowed by the new law) to be used at the municipality’s 
discretion for things like police services, patrol vehicles, etc. 
Those sorts of monetary exchanges, which don’t have the 
official “cover” of a state law allowing them, seem dangerous 
to get involved in.

COSTS MIGHT OUTWEIGH FEES AND TAX-SHARING

A community might be required to hire additional police 
and/or code enforcement personnel to ensure that medical 
marihuana facilities are in compliance with existing laws, and 
to protect those facilities from theft, vandalism, and other 
crimes. While $5,000 as an annual fee might seem like a 
significant amount of money, by the time a municipality has 
had an application reviewed by staff and consultants and 
conducted hearings (if required under an ordinance), and 
performed any background checks that it might want to do, 
the amount might not seem so generous. 

Nor are most communities likely to see substantial revenue 
from the tax provided for in the statute. Assume for this 
discussion gross retail sales throughout the state of one 
billion dollars ($1,000,000,000.00). The state’s 3% excise tax 
on provisioning centers would raise $30,000,000. Under the 
MMFLA, only 25% ($7,500,000) of that would go to Michigan 
municipalities. That amount is split among municipalities “in 
proportion to the number of marihuana facilities within the 
municipality.” Assume your city gets 1% of that revenue—
that’s $75,000. For many municipalities, that amount may 
not justify the increased costs that result from opting in 
(and for many smaller communities considering one or two 
provisioning centers, the 1% number seems high).

PROPERTY TAXES MAY TAKE SOME TIME TO SHOW UP

Under our state’s property tax system, communities might 
not start seeing significant property tax revenue just because 
buildings are suddenly occupied. Headlee and Proposal A 
could dampen the economic benefits that might otherwise 
occur, and assessments are certainly subject to challenge. 

Moreover, some kinds of uses may actually have a negative 
effect on a local tax base. For example, if a formerly industrial 
property becomes classified as “agricultural” as a result of 
a grow operation, the valuation might actually go down, as 
opposed to up.

LOSS OF CONTROL

Once it “opts in,” a community is at the mercy of the BMMR. 
The language of the MMFLA is unfortunately not as clear 
as it could be on the state’s obligation to deny a license if 
the applicant does not meet the requirements of a local 
ordinance. While we know what happens if your municipality 
does not opt in—no license can be issued—once an ordinance 
is drafted to allow a particular use, the language of the 
statute is unfortunately fuzzy as to whether the state has  
to follow it. What happens if the state does not follow it? The 
municipality could well find itself in court seeking to enforce 
its ordinance.

NUISANCE/SAFETY ISSUES

Many of these large uses do emit significant odors that some 
find objectionable. In addition to odors, there are noise 
(generators), heat, and lighting issues (either with regard 
to the use itself or for security). The MMFLA does allow 
municipalities to regulate these effects, though.

What are the reasons to be cautious/skeptical?

City Council Packet 102 November 27, 2017



Medical Marihuana Facilities - Opt In/Opt Out  PAGE 5  

NO FINAL/BINDING LARA REGULATIONS YET

The MMFLA requires LARA to draft rules to govern the 
issuance of licenses at the state level. Those regulations are 
not yet complete. Emergency (or temporary) rules will be in 
place soon, but they are likely to be modified and updated on 
an on-going basis, until the full administrative rules process 
is completed. It might be prudent to wait to craft your 
municipal regulatory scheme until you better know how the 
state intends to regulate these facilities and review and issue 
its state licenses. In particular, the two-step process at the 
state level currently being discussed (see below) could affect 
the timing of local reviews and approvals, and right now the 
state seems uninterested in doing much more than vetting 
applicants and leaving the local governments to decide who 
gets to operate (which is the hard part).

RECREATIONAL COMING? 

There may also be a ballot question for 2018 to simply 
legalize even recreational marihuana. An initiative question 
in Michigan requires just over 250,000 valid signatures on 
a petition to qualify for the state-wide ballot. People inside 
the marihuana industry are actively working to secure those 
signatures. Depending on how this question is framed, any 
regulations that are adopted now will likely need to be 
revisited/revised—probably through the same public process 
for adopting ordinances now. Does your community want to 
do that twice in the span of a couple years?

CIVIL LIABILITY

Like any land use decision, approval of these sorts of uses can 
be challenged. Neighbors may claim everything from nuisance 
to diminution in land values.

ENVIRONMENTAL EFFECTS UNKNOWN

There will be environmental effects from some of these  
uses, particularly the grow and processing operations: 
pesticides, fertilizers, energy consumption, water 
consumption, and disposal of waste products are all certain 
to result from these uses. As new uses, there may not be 
sufficient regulation at the state level, so these matters may 
fall to local governments to monitor, which may or may not 
be possible in every community.

COMMUNITY STAKEHOLDER OPPOSITION

Some communities have reported hearing from significant 
community stakeholders—e.g., large employers, health care 
providers, community foundations, influential business leaders, 
etc.—who have made known their specific opposition to 
the presence of marihuana facilities in the community, and 
corresponding intentions to react in some way if they are 
allowed. At a minimum, these stakeholders should be invited 
to participate in the discussion at the outset, so that all 
interests are heard.

Should you just…wait a bit?

City Council Packet 103 November 27, 2017



PAGE 6  Medical Marihuana Facilities - Opt In/Opt Out

On October 26, 2017, the BMMR issued an advisory bulletin 
affirming the need for a local ordinance process to be in place 
before a state license can issue:

The Bureau intends to rely on the local municipality’s 
authorizing ordinance to determine if an applicant is in 
compliance with certain provisions of the MMFLA, including:

• The types of...[facilities] permitted.

• The maximum number, if applicable of each type
of...facility permitted.

• Any local zoning regulations that apply...
including whether or not licensees may apply
for special use permits.

See BMMR link at http://www.michigan.gov/lara/0,4601,7-
154-79571-450903--,00.html.

As of this writing, the BMMR is only starting to flesh out its 
thoughts on how the state licensing process will proceed in 
light of the local authority. So far, it has outlined a process 
of “prequalification” of applicants by the state, which 
will involve screening individuals, as a first step, with the 
second step of the process coming after the municipality 
has approved the applicant under its local regulations. See 
October 12 Advisory Bulletin, “Medical Marihuana Facilities 
License Application Process.” See link at http://www.
michigan.gov/lara/0,4601,7-154-79571-449688--,00.html. 
Having to choose the successful applicants from a list of 
candidates approved by the state is not necessarily what many 
local government officials were hoping for as a process.

On October 20, 2017, the state issued a document entitled 
“MMFL Application Document Checklists,” that confirmed 
that it is currently looking at a process that contemplates local 
review and approval before a state license is issued. See link 
at michigan.gov/lara/0,4601,7-154-79571-450302--,00.html.

Note that the “checklist” document provides additional 
helpful information as to what the state will be reviewing in 
issuing individual pre-qualifications and final approvals.

The most recent bulletin issued by LARA, on November 2, 
2017, addresses how the state intends to deal with existing 
medical marihuana facilities. It indicates that LARA will adopt 
some “emergency rules” for the purpose of confirming that a 
facility’s active operation, before securing a valid license from 
the state, will not adversely affect that facility’s right to a 
state license, so long as:

1. The applicant’s proposed marihuana facility is
in a municipality that has adopted an authorizing 
ordinance prior to December 15, 2017, and the 
municipality is pending adoption of an ordinance 
under Section 205 of the MMFLA; or

2. The applicant’s proposed marihuana facility is
in a municipality that has adopted an authorizing 
ordinance pursuant to Section 205 of the 
MMFLA prior to December 15, 2017.

http://www.michigan.gov/documents/lara/BMMR_Advisory_
Temporary_Operation_605078_7.pdf

Section 205(1) of Public Act 281 currently provides: 

A marihuana facility shall not operate in a municipality unless the municipality has adopted an ordinance that authorizes 
that type of facility. The municipality may adopt an ordinance to authorize 1 or more types of marihuana facilities within its 
boundaries and to limit the number of each type of marihuana facility.

The municipality may adopt other ordinances relating to marihuana facilities within its jurisdiction, including zoning regulations, 
but shall not impose regulations regarding the purity or pricing of marihuana or interfering or conflicting with statutory 
regulations for the licensing of marihuana facilities. 

Opting In? Here Are the Kinds of Things You Should Think 
About in Drafting Your Local Regulatory Framework

State BMMR Confirms Substantial Local 
Regulatory Authority

City Council Packet 104 November 27, 2017



Medical Marihuana Facilities - Opt In/Opt Out  PAGE 7  

So, other than regulating purity and pricing, or directly 
conflicting with the state regulations—which have  
yet to be adopted—we know that municipalities can  
regulate significant aspects of marihuana facilities within  
their boundaries. Most of the discussion about how to do that 
by both municipal attorneys and attorneys for the medical 
marihuana industry has focused on two separate kinds of 
ordinances:

• ZONING ORDINANCE amendments generally relating
to the location of medical marihuana facilities and the
development approval process.

• CODE/POLICE POWER ordinances relating to
the number of facilities within the municipality, a
licensing process that works with the state’s process,
and listing responsibilities and obligations of facility
operators, as well as some basic safety regulations
aimed at new practices (e.g., butane extraction).

What makes the regulation of these uses at the local level 
difficult (or at least complicated) is as much timing as 
anything else—timing the issuance of a local license/approval 
of an application with the state’s licensing process, and timing 
the license approval process with the development approval 
process (i.e., getting zoning and building permits for a new/
renovated facility under a different ordinance than the 
licensing requirements to operate within that facility).

In addition, there is the matter of deciding who gets the 
approval to operate a facility. In light of the likely approach 
by LARA/BMMR that there will be a “prequalification,” by 
the state, with the local government in charge of “picking” 
successful candidates, this may be the toughest choice facing a 
community that has decided to opt in.

1. Zoning ordinance
Communities can consider adopting zoning ordinance 
amendments to provide the following:

TYPES OF FACILITIES TO BE ALLOWED

Under the MMFLA, a community can allow all five types of 
facilities or can pick and choose which to allow (e.g., allow 
grow operation and provisioning centers, but no compliance 
facility, processing centers, or transport facilities). This choice 
will vary by community, and should be made deliberately on 
the basis of community needs/desires.

DISTRICTS WHERE ALLOWED

The MMFLA does not specify where these facilities may 
be located, except to state that a grow facility must be 
established in an area zoned for industrial or agricultural  
uses or that is un-zoned. Section 501(7). Obviously, 
determining locations will need to be done on a community-
by-community basis, depending on the master plan and land 
use goals and objectives. 

Some uses seem to sort themselves into natural categories—
e.g. processing plants in industrial or manufacturing areas, 
grow operations in industrial/agricultural. Some communities 
could elect to place even dispensaries (which arguably  
have a commercial/retail character) in industrial/agricultural 
districts that, depending on the community’s zoning  
map or particular community characteristics, are better  
suited for such uses than traditional business districts on  
Main Street or in a strip mall.

Some communities have considered adopting an “overlay” 
zone for medical marihuana facilities. An overlay zone typically 
operates by adding an additional set of uses— 
and corresponding additional regulations—in certain  
areas of the community, without changing the underlying 
zoning district regulations. An overlay district could be 
considered if a community wants, for example, only certain 
industrially zoned areas in a particular part of town to be 
available to marihuana facilities.

What Kinds of Ordinances Should You Consider?

City Council Packet 105 November 27, 2017



PAGE 8  Medical Marihuana Facilities - Opt In/Opt Out

USE PERMITTED OF RIGHT? SPECIAL LAND USE

The community needs to determine whether these  
uses will be uses permitted as of right or only as discretionary 
special land uses. Arguments can be made in favor of  
either approach. 

Some communities have made them uses as of right in order 
to avoid requiring their planning commissions to exercise 
discretion in determining who will be authorized to engage 
in the use. The discretionary element of a special land use 
exposes a municipality to a challenge or litigation where an 
applicant is denied the use, or where one applicant is granted 
approval and another is not. Special land use decisions can 
also invite challenge from adjacent property owners alleging 
an improper exercise of discretion when a use is granted over 
substantial objections at the required public hearing.

On the other hand, the special land use process affords the 
municipality the greatest opportunity to impose conditions 
allowed under the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act. MCL 
125.3504. These could include important requirements for, say, 
building appearance, sign size, screening, access, etc.

The community could consider the “in between” approach of 
a “use permitted on special condition,” where the conditions 
are fully objective (based on physical characteristics, size, etc.)

PROXIMITY AND CO-LOCATION ISSUES

Another regulatory issue to be considered as part of the 
zoning ordinance amendment is a distancing requirement 
between marihuana-based uses. Should they be clustered 
or dispersed? Not unlike the question that is asked with 
adult/sexually oriented businesses: is it better to put these 
uses (to the extent possible) in one general area, for easier 
monitoring, or to separate them so an area does not become 
known for that particular characteristic. The question 
presents practical issues as well as fairness issues (e.g., placing 
provisioning centers in only one part of town). 

Also, does the community want to allow different kinds of 
facilities —e.g., a grower and a provisioning center—to  
co-locate at the same site? The LARA regulations may address 
some of these issues, but municipalities should, under Section 
205 of Act 281, have the authority to regulate these basic 
land use issues.

LARA has advised that it intends to allow the “stacking” of 
Class C grow licenses (which permit up to 1500 plants per 
license) in a single location, but only if the municipality’s 
ordinance allows this to be done.

DISTANCING REQUIREMENTS FROM OTHER USES

Municipalities might also want to consider location or spacing 
requirements as between medical marihuana uses and 
other uses. For example, the ordinance provides distancing 
requirements from schools, parks and playgrounds, certain 
types of residential districts or housing types, churches, pools 
and recreation facilities, rehabilitation treatment centers, 
correctional facilities, and the like. This is a classic sort of 
zoning regulation and should be carefully considered. This 
could also be regulated in the licensing ordinance instead.

COORDINATING SITE PLAN/BUILDING PERMIT  
PROCESS WITH LICENSING PROCESS. 

Most likely, the typical process for finalizing site plans and 
issuing building and occupancy permits as set forth in the 
zoning ordinance can be followed. Some buildings might be 
built new, on vacant sites; other uses might occupy existing 
buildings, with little or no site work.

Either way, the timing of these zoning approvals with the  
local and state licensing processes will need to be  
decided and addressed. The zoning ordinance should 
probably acknowledge a separate process under the licensing 
ordinance, and make some appropriate conditions  
requiring that approval.

OTHER PROVISIONS

The ordinance should contain the other usual elements: 

• A statement of purpose/intent—which, as explained 
further below, should refer to the applicable state laws 
as the basis for inclusion of these uses. 

• A definitions section that matches the terms from  
the state laws.

• A section dealing with nonconforming sites/uses.  
This may be particularly relevant if there are  
currently some marihuana-based facilities operating  
in the community, which the community may or may  
not want to assist in continuing under the new 
regulatory scheme.

• Provisions relating to application review fees (for 
planners, engineers, landscape architects, etc.).

City Council Packet 106 November 27, 2017



Medical Marihuana Facilities - Opt In/Opt Out  PAGE 9  

2. Police Power/Code of Ordinances 
amendment to deal with licensing 
facilities at the local level
Again, the most difficult aspect of crafting a licensing 
ordinance for most communities will be timing the local 
license approval with the state’s licensing process and the 
zoning/building occupancy approval process. If the state 
BMMR continues down its current path of “pre-qualification” 
and then waiting for municipal approval, there will likely need 
to be some sort of “conditional” aspect to the local license—
i.e., it becomes effective only upon securing the state license 
and all zoning/land use approvals.

A related complication arises when the local regulatory 
scheme limits the number of a type of use. The first concern 
is how those applicants are chosen (special land use? first 
come, first served? random?). Problems can also result if a 
conditional license is granted, but then conditions are not in 
fact met. Should the ordinance have provisions to deal with 
choosing an alternative applicant? 

Among the things a municipality will want to consider in its 
licensing/general regulatory ordinance:

PURPOSE AND INTENT CLAUSE 

If nothing else, in addition to describing the general goals and 
objectives as relates to the particular facilities and licensing 
applicants regulated, a community might want to consider 
some explanation that the ordinance is being enacted 
specifically pursuant to an invitation in the state law, and 
with the recognition that the state law may be at odds with 
the federal regulatory scheme relating to marihuana. The 
clause should also include a recognition that if the legislative 
body does not act, then someone else might act in its stead 
(through the initiative process, assuming it is applicable).

DEFINITIONS

These need to match up with the state law, particularly as 
to the uses allowed. Additional definitions may be needed 
depending on the nature of local regulations.

LIMITATIONS ON THE NUMBER OF FACILITIES  
ALLOWED IN THE COMMUNITY, BY TYPE 

Act 281 does not describe how a community arrives at a 
limitation, just that it can. Limitation criteria can be found 
by way of population (e.g., x number of dispensaries per 
y number of residents in the community) or by area and 
location. Some explanation during the process (or in the 
purpose section) would be appropriate.

It should also address successor uses. Once the limit is 
reached, will no further applications be accepted? Or  
will they be held in order received if/when license  
becomes available again?

In addition, where the number of facilities is limited, the 
community might want to consider imposing a time  
frame in which the use must be established and a certificate 
of occupancy issued (e.g., 6 to 9 months), with an  
obligation to surrender the license if the use is not 
established. This would limit the possibility of issuing a license 
to someone who wants to obtain a license but not use it 
(for purposes of limiting the market, or precluding a use) or, 
if a community allows license transfers, as an investment to 
transfer to another entity.

LOCATION CRITERIA 

This should be cross-referenced to the zoning ordinance 
(assuming there is one); or the location criteria can be 
established in the licensing ordinance itself.

FEES

The MMFLA allows “not more than” $5,000 per licensed 
facility as an annual non-refundable fee. However, because 
the purpose is stated as helping to defray actual costs of 
enforcement/oversight, a community should take care to 
justify the fee based upon what the community expects the 
actual costs to be.

REQUIRED INFORMATION

The community can get as specific as it wants. Information 
required can include:

• Personal information about the applicant.

• Information about the applicant’s  
professional experience.

• Proof of ownership or other occupancy rights for the 
property at issue.

• Information about the facility and operations plan.

• Proof of interest in land.

• Proof of adequate insurance (describe).

City Council Packet 107 November 27, 2017



PAGE 10  Medical Marihuana Facilities - Opt In/Opt Out

CRITERIA FOR ISSUING OR DENYING THE LICENSE

• Who issues the license: The city/village/township clerk?
Some other officer or body?

• What is the process? Should there be a hearing? Public
input allowed?

• Standards for issuing:

 - First come, first served?

 - Lottery/pick from hat?

 - Evaluation on the basis of discretionary criteria?

This is the step with the most “exposure” to  
the municipality as noted above. The more 
subjective the process is or seems, the greater 
the likelihood of challenge.

• Do existing facilities get priority?

STANDARDS FOR DENYING

These could incorporate the state laws, and could include 
additional limitations if appropriate.

• Conditioned on all other appeals—state licenses,
zoning/site plan review, occupancy permits. This
contemplates a record documenting the “provisional” or
“conditional” approval and specific requirements for a
“final” approval.

• Denial at state level revokes local approval.

OCCUPANCY PERMITS

The practice of allowing occupancy before all aspects  
of the building and use are finalized, by issuing a “temporary 
certificate of occupancy,” or TCO, is typical in many 
communities. Doing so with these uses—which will likely  
be limited in number, and are essentially a “new” use 
with which we are not yet completely familiar—seems 
unnecessary. Consideration should be given to withholding 
occupancy rights until a final certificate of occupancy  
can be issued. Note that ADA compliance will be required  
for provisioning centers.

APPEAL OF DENIAL OF A LICENSE

As a police power (as opposed to zoning) ordinance, the 
Zoning Board of Appeals may not be an ideal appellate board; 
however, many township boards and city councils might not 
relish the thought of having to be the deciding body. While 
the ZBA would need to be informed of its slightly different 
reviewing role, it is one that they are generally used to. 
Alternatives could also include a separate body or commission 
to hear appeals.

SALE OR TRANSFER OF A LICENSE

Given the nature of the review process and the approvals 
given, the best practice would likely be to indicate that  
the license is personal to the applicant—no transfers  
allowed. The license should be clearly made “personal”  
to the applicant.

RENEWAL

The annual fee assumes a renewal of businesses that remain 
in compliance with the local ordinances.

REVOCATION (BY LOCAL ORDINANCE)

Revocation of a license should be a permissible result  
in the event of things like failure to comply with the  
licensing ordinance or any other ordinance of the City;  
change in ownership; change in operational plan; conviction 
of certain crimes; etc. Similar to a licensing revocation  
for liquor license.

“PERFORMANCE STANDARDS” RELATING 
TO THINGS LIKE:

• Noise

• Odor

• Heat

• Light

• Continued compliance with all other ordinances,
including zoning ordinance.

While a local code of ordinances might already contain some 
general standards in these areas, medical marihuana uses 
have unique aspects that merit particular attention. There 
are resources available to communities to confirm the ability 
of these facilities to mitigate—with appropriate capital 
investments—many of these adverse effects.

ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS

Information about the environmental effects of these sorts of 
uses is limited at this point. But municipalities should at least 
be aware of the likely use of fertilizer and pesticides with 
regard to a grow operation in particular, and the ordinance 
could at least provide for basic standards for storage and use 
in accordance with other laws and regulations. Water and 
energy consumption may be significant with these uses as 
well. Both the grow operations and the processing centers 
raise waste disposal concerns. These areas are all fair game 
under the limits set forth in Section 205(1) of the MMFLA, 
and the community should require information on all these 
aspects of all permitted uses before setting its regulations.

City Council Packet 108 November 27, 2017



Medical Marihuana Facilities - Opt In/Opt Out  PAGE 11  

SECURITY/PRIVACY

Fencing. Lighting. Access controls. Video surveillance.  
All these should be addressed in the ordinance or as part 
of any approval. Due consideration for the effects of these 
on neighboring properties should be taken into account in 
crafting regulations and approvals, and perhaps in determining 
permitted locations under the zoning ordinance.

SIGNAGE

Signage for these uses could be offensive to some. While 
commercial signage is subject to greater regulation than non-
commercial speech, there are obvious limitations, particularly 
under the Reed v Gilbert case. This is an important aspect of 
any of these uses, and the community will need to carefully 
research its options and closely draft its sign regulations.

INSPECTION PROVISIONS

These provisions should be comprehensive and rigorous. 
Consideration should be given to those including:

• A statement that the premises are subject to inspection
during business hours for purposes of determining
compliance with state and local laws, without a search
warrant.

• An acknowledgement that the application of a facility
license constitutes consent to routine inspections of the
premises and examination of surveillance and security
camera recordings for purposes of protecting the public
safety.

• Significant penalty provision for failure to comply.

ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS ON THE BASIS 
OF THE SPECIFIC TYPE OF FACILITY 

• For example, the community may want to
regulate hours of operation or the physical
appearance of buildings.

• List of specific prohibited acts by use (e.g., no
consumption on premises at provisioning centers;
requirement for all activities to occur indoors).

• Consider limitations on use of butane, propane, and
other flammable products and require compliance with
state and local laws for such products.

VIOLATIONS AND PENALTIES SECTION 

• Civil infraction, not misdemeanor.

• Each day a separate offense.

INDEMNIFICATION

Given the nature of this use, the applicant/licensee could be 
required to indicate that it will hold the local municipality 
and its officials harmless, and indemnify them against claims 
related to the use.

RIGHT TO FARM CONSIDERATIONS

There is a question whether the Right to Farm Act, MCL 
286.473, et seq., will apply to grow operations. While it 
is good to have the law in mind, it seems unlikely at this 
time, since to date no Generally Accepted Agricultural and 
Management Practice (GAAMP) regulation has been issued 
for medical marijuana.

City Council Packet 109 November 27, 2017



Michigan Municipal League 
1675 Green Rd,  

Ann Arbor, MI 48105
City Council Packet 110 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 111 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 112 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 113 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 114 November 27, 2017



City Council Packet 115 November 27, 2017


	2017-11-13 November 13 Council Minutes
	2017-11-27 Council Packet
	2017-11-27, Council Mtg Template
	TO:  Honorable Mayor, Mayor Pro-Tem & Council Members
	ROUTINE BUSINESS – REVISITED ISSUES / PROJECTS

	Rev-Exp Report OCt
	PD Report
	Don Shenk Bid
	change order daval street
	ce proposal daval
	ZBA minutes 2017-11-15
	TCO 171 2017-11-27 Ingalls Parking
	Comcast Notice
	med-marihuana-facilities-opt-in-opt-out
	Gaines Twp
	CCE11132017_0001
	CCE11212017




